
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
DISTRICT OF MAINE 

 
 

__________________________________________ 
In re:        ) 
        ) 
Montreal Maine & Atlantic Railway Ltd.,   ) Case No. 13-10670 
        ) 

Debtor.   ) 
__________________________________________) 
 
 
WHEELING & LAKE ERIE RAILWAY COMPANY’S OBJECTION TO CHAPTER 11 

TRUSTEE’S MOTION FOR ORDER APPROVING COMPROMISE AND 
SETTLEMENT WITH IRVING PAPER LIMITED, IRVING PULP & PAPER, 

LIMITED, AND J.D. IRVING, LIMITED 
 

 Now comes the Wheeling & Lake Erie Railway Company (“Wheeling”) and objects to 

the Chapter 11 Trustee’s Motion for Order Approving Compromise and Settlement With Irving 

Paper, Limited, Irving Pulp & Paper, Limited, and J.D. Irving, Limited (the “9019 Motion”) 

[D.E. # 307], filed by Robert J. Keach, the chapter 11 trustee in this case (the “Trustee”), for the 

reasons set forth herein. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 By the 9019 Motion, the Trustee seeks to resolve the contested matter which was initiated 

by the Trustee’s filing of his Motion for Order Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 542(b) (the “542(b) 

Motion”).  That Motion sought to recover the outstanding balance of an account receivable owed 

to the Debtor, in the amount of $885,733 (the “Irving Debt”), by certain of the Irving Companies 

(which Companies include Irving Paper Limited, Irving Pulp & Paper, Ltd., and J.D. Irving, 

Ltd.).1  Wheeling claims a first priority security interest in and to the Irving Debt because it is an 

“account” within the meaning of that certain Security Agreement between Wheeling and 

Montreal, Maine & Atlantic Railway, Ltd. (the “Debtor”) and its affiliates, dated June 15, 2009, 

pursuant to which the Debtor and its affiliates granted Wheeling a security interest in all 

                                                 
1  Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 9019 Motion. 
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accounts, proceeds thereof, and other collateral.  Further, by virtue of this Court’s Fourth and 

Fifth Interim Orders Authorizing Debtor to Use Cash Collateral and Granting Adequate 

Protection (the “Cash Collateral Orders”) [D.E. 255 & 374], the entirety of the Irving Debt has 

been turned over to Wheeling, with the exception of $150,000, which the Trustee may use 

(subject to Wheeling’s security interest) in accordance with a cash collateral budget approved by 

the Court. 

By its oral order dated September 11, 2013 [D.E. 210], this Court granted Wheeling the 

right to appear and be heard in the 542(b) Motion, with full rights as a party in such proceeding.  

On October 1, 2013, the Trustee, without consultation with Wheeling, filed a Stipulation 

Dismissing Motion for Order Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 542(b) (the “Stipulation”) [D.E. 306] and 

shortly thereafter, he filed the 9019 Motion.  Both the Stipulation and the 9019 Motion were filed 

without any discussion with Wheeling, and without its consent.  The Stipulation is a nullity 

under Rule 7041 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (made applicable to the 542(b) 

Motion by Rule 9014) because it is not signed by all of the parties to that contested matter.  

Moreover, leaving aside the doubtful notion that any “settlement” or “compromise” has been 

achieved in a contested matter wherein fewer than all parties thereto have consented, Wheeling 

has determined, after taking depositions of representatives of the Debtor and the Irving 

Companies, that the proposed compromise is highly improvident and prejudicial to Wheeling 

and to the Debtor’s estate.   

In summary, the 9019 Motion is flawed, and must be denied, for both procedural and 

substantive reasons, including the following:  

 As a threshold matter, there is no “settlement” for the Court to Approve.  By virtue of this 
Court’s Fourth and Fifth Cash Collateral Orders, all of the Irving Debt, with the 
exception of $150,000 has been turned over to Wheeling, and Wheeling has been 
authorized to apply the Irving Debt in satisfaction of the amounts owed by the Debtor to 
Wheeling.  Consequently, that portion of the Irving Debt exceeding $150,000 is no longer 
property of the estate, and the Trustee has no remaining authority to use it under any 
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circumstances.  As such he has no authority to settle or compromise it.  Further, 
Wheeling is a party to the 542(b) Motion proceedings but it has not consented to any 
settlement of the 542(b) Motion.  Thus, as a threshold matter, both as a matter of 
substance and procedure, there is no “settlement” before the Court: Wheeling has not 
agreed to compromise its own portion of the Irving Debt, and as a party to the 542(b) 
Motion, it has not agreed to settle it.  
 

 The “settlement” set forth in the 9019 Motion is improvident.  The 9019 Motion is 
fundamentally flawed in its own right, on the merits.  It presupposes and is premised on 
the false assumption made by the Trustee that prior to the August 7, 2013 filing of the 
Debtor’s Chapter 11 petition, the Irving Companies effectuated an offset of the Irving 
Debt against amounts that they claimed the Debtor owed to the Irving Companies.  This 
alleged indebtedness of the Debtor to the Irving Companies was acquired by the Irving 
Companies by assignment, within 90 days preceding the Debtor’s Chapter 11 filing, and 
while the Debtor was plainly insolvent (it was acquired shortly after the tragedy in Lac 
Megantic).  Wheeling tested, in discovery, the assumption made by the Trustee that the 
Irving Companies had actually effectuated as setoff of the Irving Debt against the 
obligations of the Debtor that they had acquired immediately prior to the filing of the 
Debtor’s Chapter 11 petition.  Discovery revealed, to the contrary, that the Trustee’s 
assumption is in error, and that the Irving Companies made no such setoff.  As such, the 
fundamental premise of the settlement is erroneous, and under Section 553(a) of the 
Bankruptcy Code, the Irving Companies acquired right of offset is ineffective and invalid 
on its face.  As a result, the settlement is ill-founded and entirely unreasonable. 
 

 The “settlement” cannot be supported by a “constructive trust” theory.  In some federal 
circuits, it has been recognized that when a shipper pays a rail carrier, the rail carrier 
holds all or a portion of the payment in trust, for payment of invoices issued by other rail 
carriers that provided portions of the rail services necessary to deliver the shipper’s 
goods.  In the First Circuit, and in this District, the “constructive trust” theory has been 
expressly rejected.  The “constructive trust” theory cannot support any claim of the Irving 
Companies; nor can it support a settlement. 
 

 Because Wheeling holds a valid and perfected security interest in the Irving Debt and the 
Irving Companies were, at all relevant times, on notice of this fact, any alleged setoff of 
the Irving Debt was ineffective under the Maine Uniform Commercial Code.  Discovery 
has revealed that as early as August 30, 2012, the Irving Companies were on notice of 
Wheeling’s security interest in accounts.  As such, pursuant to § 9-1404 of Title 11 of the 
Maine Revised Statutes (the “Maine UCC”), the Irving Companies are barred from 
exercising any set off right acquired after that date with respect to the Irving Debt.   
 

 The 542(b) Motion and 9019 Motion are based on a desperate need for cash that no 
longer exists by virtue of this Court’s approval of the Debtor’s borrowing from Camden 
National Bank.  Finally, the primary impetus of the Trustee in pressing an expedited 
hearing of the 542(b) Motion and an expedited hearing of the 9019 Motion was to raise 
cash quickly because the Trustee feared running out of cash before he could complete a 
sale of the Debtor’s assets.  At the time of filing these Motions, the Trustee had not 
received a binding commitment from Camden National Bank to make a loan to fund 
operations, nor any court approval of the same. These circumstances have changed.  
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Closing on a loan is imminent.  The Trustee no longer has a desperate need to raise cash, 
and there is no further need to enter into an improvident settlement for the sole purpose of 
raising cash quickly.  
 
In view of the foregoing, the Court should deny the 9019 Motion because it is 

procedurally and substantively flawed and motivated by a desperate need for cash that has now 

dissipated.  The major stakeholder in the Irving Debt does not consent to the settlement, as it is 

based on false assumptions and inadequate factual development.  

 

ARGUMENT 

I. There Is No “Settlement” For The Court To Approve Because Wheeling Has Not 
Agreed To Settle The 542(b) Motion or To Compromise Its Interest In the Irving 
Debt. 
 
The 9019 Motion seeks to compromise the entirety of the Irving Debt.  If granted, it 

would not only compromise the estate’s interest in the Irving Debt ($150,000), it would also 

compromise the remainder of the Irving Debt as to which the estate has no interest, i.e. all of the 

Irving Debt in excess of $150,000.  By virtue of the Fourth and Fifth Cash Collateral Orders, the 

remainder of the Irving Debt is required to be turned over to Wheeling for application to the 

Debtor’s indebtedness to Wheeling.  Wheeling is the only party with an interest in that portion of 

the Irving Debt that exceeds $150,000.2  

As a threshold matter, there is no “settlement” that can properly be considered under 

Bankruptcy Rule 9019, because not all parties to the matter have agreed to settle.  “A 

‘settlement’ between only two parties to a multi-party lawsuit is not a settlement, and the 

procedure to approve a compromise under Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9019(a) cannot be used to impose an 

injunction on the non-settling parties.”  Overton’s, Inc. et al. v. Interstate Fire & Casualty 

Insurance Co. (In re Sportstuff), 430 B.R. 170, 179 (8th Cir. BAP 2010) (reversing order 

                                                 
2  As to the $150,000, under the Fourth and Fifth Cash Collateral Orders, Wheeling maintains its security 
interest in that amount, however, the Trustee has the right to use that amount, pursuant to Section 363(b) of the 
Bankruptcy Code. 
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approving settlement because relief under Rule 9019 improper when fewer than all parties to 

dispute purport to settle).  The underlying principal, as noted by the United States Supreme Court 

in a different context, is that “‘parties who choose to resolve litigation through settlement may 

not dispose of the claims of a third party.’”  In re D.J. Christie, Inc., Do. No. 11-40764, 2013 

WL 2153188, at *7 (Bankr. D. Kan. May 17, 2013) (quoting Local No. 92 v. City of Cleveland, 

48 U.S. 501, 529 (1986)).  See also In re Forty-Eight Insulations, Inc., 149 B.R. 860, 865 (N.D. 

Ill 1992) (affirming bankruptcy court order denying 9019 motion; “we are cognizant of the fact 

that settlement agreements work efficiently and fairly only when all parties with an interest in the 

conflict are represented in the settlement. . . . What the court refuses to do, however, is to 

approve a settlement which abolishes the rights of one party without even having consulted that 

party during the settlement talks.”). 

The Trustee cannot seek approval of a “compromise” where not all of the stakeholders in 

the matter have agreed to the compromise.  He cannot compromise a property interest held by 

Wheeling alone, i.e. all of the Irving Debt in excess of $150,000.  He fares no better under Rule 

7041, upon which he purports to rely in his so-called “Stipulation” dismissing the 542(b) Motion, 

a stipulation signed by only two of three parties to that Motion.  Rule 9014 of the Federal Rules 

of Bankruptcy Procedure makes a number of the rules pertaining to adversary proceedings 

(Rules 7001 et. seq.) applicable to contested matters, such as the 542(b) Motion.  Among those 

rules is Rule 7041, which, in turn, incorporates by reference Rule 41 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure.  Rule 41 provides in pertinent part:  

(a) VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL.  

(1) By the Plaintiff. 

(A) Without a Court Order. Subject to Rules 23(e), 23.1(c), 23.2, and 66 and any 
applicable federal statute, the plaintiff may dismiss an action without a court order by 
filing: 

(i) a notice of dismissal before the opposing party serves either an answer or a 
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motion for summary judgment; or 

(ii) a stipulation of dismissal signed by all parties who have appeared. 

In his Stipulation, the Trustee apparently purports to rely on subsection (a)(1)(A)(ii) of 

Rule 41 which governs a stipulation of dismissal signed by “all parties who have appeared[.]”  

Clearly, not all parties who have appeared in the 542(b) Motion proceedings have signed the 

Stipulation.  Wheeling has not signed it. Hence, the Trustee’s Stipulation is defective and 

inoperative under Rule 41 and Bankruptcy Rule 7041. 

Of course, Rules 41 and 7041 are procedural rules, but the point is that the applicable 

procedural rules do not cure the substantive flaws: Wheeling has not agreed to the compromise 

of its interest in the Irving Debt because the proposed compromise is improvident, as will be 

discussed below.  Its interest has been confirmed by court order, and as such, there can be no 

compromise, nor any stipulation of dismissal, without its consent.  Both the Rule 9019 Motion, 

as well as the Trustee’s Stipulation must fail because Wheeling, the exclusive owner of the major 

portion of the Irving Debt, has not agreed to settle. 

 

II. The Purported Compromise Set Forth In The 9019 Motion Is Improvident, And Not 
Within The Range Of Reasonableness Because It Is Premised The False Assumption 
That The Irving Companies Effectuated A Setoff.  As Such, The Compromise 
Cannot and Should Not Be Approved. 

 
Apart from the procedural flaw of submitting for approval a compromise to which a 

major stakeholder, Wheeling, has not agreed, the compromise is also a bad idea on the merits—

merits which the Trustee failed adequately to explore and consider in making a fast-paced deal 

with the Irving Companies.  As a general proposition, Wheeling agrees with the Trustee that the 

First Circuit decision in Jeffrey v. Desmond, 70 F.3d 183 (1st Cir. 1995) is controlling authority.  

Jeffrey requires that in any proposed compromise in bankruptcy, the interest of creditors must be 

considered, and deference must be given to their views.  Here, Wheeling is the only party and the 
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only creditor with an interest in the Irving Debt in excess of $150,000, and the holder by far of 

the larger portion of the Irving Debt.  Wheeling asserts that it is entitled to deference, indeed 

exclusive deference, to its views as to how its own property interests ought to be dealt with.  

Equally important is that such deference is warranted not only because Wheeling owns the larger 

share of the Irving Debt, but also because there are serious flaws in the Trustee’s analysis of the 

merits of the proposed compromise.  

As the 9019 Motion explicitly states, the Irving Companies’ primary defense to the 

542(b) Motion is based upon an alleged, pre-petition setoff of the Irving Debt against an 

indebtedness of the Debtor which the Irving Companies acquired by pre-petition assignments.  

The Trustee buys the Irving setoff story hook, line and sinker, stating in the 9019 Motion:  

“Following those assignments, on July 31, 2013 the Irving Companies setoff approximately 

$761,000 of the debt owed by MMA against the amount owed by the Irving Companies to 

MMA[.]”  9019 Motion, ¶ 11.  Having bought the setoff story, the Trustee justifies the proposed 

compromise on the uncertainties created by the application of Section 553 of the Bankruptcy 

Code to rights of setoff that are both acquired by pre-petition assignment, and exercised pre-

petition.  These uncertainties appear to drive the Trustee to avoid litigating the 542(b) Motion 

and risking the delays caused by an appeal. 9019 Motion, ¶ 14.  

To be sure, if a right of setoff is acquired pre-petition, and if setoff is effectuated pre-

petition, the remedies of the Debtor or the Trustee may be limited to the improvement–in-

position test set forth in Section 553(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, or perhaps to avoidance under 

Section 547 of the Bankruptcy Code.  The Trustee would be subject to the uncertainties inherent 

in applying these statutory provisions.  But, if the right of setoff was acquired within 90 days of 

the filing of the petition, at a time when the Debtor was insolvent, and if the creditor holding the 

acquired right of setoff fails to effectuate the setoff prior to the filing of the Chapter 11 petition, 

then the story is entirely different—the right of setoff is lost altogether, and forever.  See 11 
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U.S.C. 553(a)(2)(B).3  Based on the Trustee’s assumption that the right of setoff acquired by the 

Irving Companies had been exercised prepetition, the Trustee ignored the threshold question of 

whether a setoff had been effectuated in the first instance and ignored the application of Section 

553(a)(2)(B) to inchoate setoffs.  Hence, he claims that the proposed compromise of the Irving 

Debt was within the range of reasonableness.  

It might have been, if the underlying assumption of a prepetition setoff were accurate.  

But it is not.  Discovery undertaken by Wheeling, including depositions under Rule 30(b)(6) 

(Bankruptcy Rule 7030) of both the Irving Companies and the Debtor reveal that, contrary to the 

claims made by Irving—and accepted at face value by the Trustee—no pre-petition setoff of the 

Irving Debt was made by the Irving Companies.  And because the Irving Companies acquired the 

purported right of setoff within 90 days of the  Debtor’s Chapter 11 petition, at a time when it 

was plainly insolvent (after the Lac Megantic tragedy), the inchoate right of setoff has been lost 

forever under Section 553(a)(2)(B).  There was no justification or cause for the Trustee to give 

away the store. 

A. There Was No Setoff. 
 

The setoff defense must be considered in view of the following facts established in 

discovery undertaken by Wheeling in respect of the 542(b) Motion:  
                                                 
3  Section 553(a) provides:  
 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section and in sections 362 and 363 of this title, this title 
does not affect any right of a creditor to offset a mutual debt owing by such creditor to the debtor 
that arose before the commencement of the case under this title against a claim of such creditor 
against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the case, except to the extent that— 
(1) the claim of such creditor against the debtor is disallowed; 
(2) such claim was transferred, by an entity other than the debtor, to such creditor— 
(A) after the commencement of the case; or 
(B) 
(i) after 90 days before the date of the filing of the petition; and 
(ii) while the debtor was insolvent (except for a setoff of a kind described in section 362(b)(6), 
362(b)(7), 362(b)(17), 362(b)(27), 555, 556, 559, 560, or 561); or 
(3) the debt owed to the debtor by such creditor was incurred by such creditor— 
(A) after 90 days before the date of the filing of the petition; 
(B) while the debtor was insolvent; and 
(C) for the purpose of obtaining a right of setoff against the debtor (except for a setoff of a kind 
described in section 362(b)(6), 362(b)(7), 362(b)(17), 362(b)(27), 555, 556, 559, 560, or 561). 
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 As of August 7, 2013, the Debtor owed approximately $2.3 million (the “MMA 
Debt”) to one of the Irving Railroads, New Brunswick Southern Railway 
Company Ltd. (“NBSR”), or to an assignee of NBSR.  9019 Motion, ¶ 12. 
 

 As of August 28, 2013, on the books and records of the Debtor, the Irving 
Companies owed the Debtor the amount of $885,733 on certain invoices (the 
aforementioned Irving Debt), as set forth in the 9019 Motion. 
 

 As memorialized in a series of assignments purportedly effectuated on July 12, 
July 23, and July 30, 2013, all within 90 days of the Debtor’s Chapter 11 petition 
(the “Assignments”), NBSR transferred approximately $1.3 million of the MMA 
Debt to one or more of the Irving Companies (the “MMA Assigned Debt”).  9019 
Motion, ¶ 11.  Copies of the Assignments are attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

 The Irving Companies contend that prior to August 7, 2013, they effectuated a 
setoff of approximately $761,000 of the Irving Debt against the MMA Assigned 
Debt, thereby extinguishing $761,000 of the Irving Debt to the Debtor.  

 
 According to the Irving Companies, the setoff was effectuated when the Irving 

Companies paid $761,000 of the MMA Assigned Debt to NBSR. See the 
deposition transcript of the Irving Companies’ general manager of corporate 
credit and finance, and their Rule 30(b)(6) designee, Karl Hansen (the “Hansen 
Depo. Tr.”, at [page]:[line]), 32:3-24 and Exhibit 4 thereto.  The Hansen Depo. 
Tr. and related exhibits have been filed with the Court, together with this 
Objection. These intra-company payments are memorialized on certain account 
registers (the “Registers”) attached to the Hansen Depo. Tr. as Exhibit 4 thereto.  
That Exhibit 4 is also attached to this Objection as Exhibit B. 

 
 These Registers show that the Irving Companies paid NBSR for the MMA 

Assigned Debt.  Irving claims that the Registers evidence a completed setoff, and 
that they constitute the book entries effectuating the setoff. (Hansen Depo. Tr., 
32:17-33:2.) 

 
 Noticeably absent, however, is any record of the Irving Companies indicating that 

the Irving Debt (owed to the Debtor) was extinguished by virtue of the 
Assignments or by the payment made to NBSR for the same, nor any indication 
that the MMA Assigned Debt itself was paid or treated as paid, or has been 
eliminated in any record of the Irving Companies.  Indeed, the only impact of the 
Assignments and the Registers is to record transfer of the MMA Debt from NBSR 
to the Irving Companies, and the payment for the same by the latter to the former.  
That’s it.       

 
 The assignment of the MMA Assigned Debt from NBSR to the Irving 

Companies, and the payment of the MMA Assigned Debt by the Irving 
Companies is the only evidence proffered by Irving to prove a purported 
prepetition “setoff”.   No other record of the Irving Companies shows an actual 
setoff—i.e. the satisfaction of the Irving Debt owed to MMA, or the satisfaction 
of the MMA Assigned Debt owed to the Irving Companies. Both debts remain 
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unaffected by the assignment. Mr. Hansen, who conceived of and implemented 
the Assignments and purported setoff, did not instruct Irving’s accounting 
department to make any book entries to reflect a setoff. (Hansen Depo. Tr., 29:11-
13.) 

 
 Mr. Hansen never discussed the Assignments or their intended effect, or the 

purported setoff, with MMA, and does not know whether anyone else at the 
Irving Companies did.  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 19:1-23, 22:22-23:3, 44:16-45:16.)  
MMA’s CFO, Donald Gardner, confirmed in his deposition (which deposition is 
filed herewith and shall be referred to herein as “Gardner Depo. Tr., 
[page]:[line]”) that he had not discussed the Assignments with Irving and that the 
Assignments were a matter internal to Irving that did not affect the Debtor’s 
business relationship with the Irving Companies—and that he did not talk to or 
hear from anyone at the Irving Companies about the purported setoff.  (Gardner 
Depo. Tr., 29:3-16, 31:14-33:24, 34:13-16.)     

 
 The Debtor did not consent to the purported setoff, was unaware of it, and its 

records still reflect a payable to the Irving Companies as well as the Irving Debt 
as a receivable.  (Gardner Dep. Tr., 36:6-16.)  While Mr. Hansen testified that the 
Irving Companies told Mr. Gardner, “this is what we setoff, here are the 
invoices[,]” and “take this off your records because we have sent this money to 
Irving Railways,” the document that Mr. Hansen points to as constituting this 
communication says no such thing, Mr. Gardner did not understand it to mean 
that a setoff was effectuated, and Mr. Gardner did not recall ever receiving 
correspondence from the Irving Companies to that effect.  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 
30:30:12-31:6, 32:17-24 and Exhibit 4; Gardner Depo. Tr., 33:25-34:34:12, 
34:17-35:12, 36:17-25, 37:14-38:25.)   

 
 Mr. Gardner’s understanding of a setoff is a situation in which two parties who 

owe each other mutual debts compare amounts due, subtract the lesser amount 
from the greater amount, and the party owing a net balance pays the other party.  
(Gardner Depo. Tr., 82:16-44:7.)  That is not what happened here, where one or 
more of the Irving Companies simply paid NBSR pursuant to the Assignments.  
(Hansen Depo. Tr., 32:3-24 and Exhibit 4.)   

 
 Finally, Mr. Hansen did not know if anyone at the Irving Companies had 

instructed MMA that the Irving Companies had permanently resolved the MMA 
Assigned Debt or the Irving Debt.  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 38:19-39:13.)  

 
The forgoing facts—based on deposition testimony of the Rule 30(b)(6) representatives 

of the Irving Companies and the Debtor, and thus admissions against these parties—establish 

without doubt that no prepetition setoff was made.  What happened is that a non-lawyer, Mr. 

Hansen, thought he understood how to effectuate a setoff and directed that steps be undertaken 

that he erroneously thought would do the job.  Thus, Mr. Hansen directed that NBSR, one of the 

Case 13-10670    Doc 384    Filed 10/15/13    Entered 10/15/13 09:59:13    Desc Main
 Document      Page 10 of 25



11 

Irving Railroads, assign to its affiliates, the Irving Companies, NBSR’s account receivable from 

the Debtor.  See, e.g., the Assignments.  He then directed the Irving Companies, as assignee of 

the Debtor’s accounts, to pay NBSR for these assigned accounts, and the Irving Companies did 

so by transferring cash to NBSR in payment of a portion of the MMA Assigned Debt, as 

reflected in the Registers.  (See Hansen Depo. Tr., 23:9-1 and Exhibit 4).  As a result, NBSR got 

its money for the assigned accounts (or a portion of them) and the Irving Companies wound up 

owning the MMA Assigned Accounts.  That’s all; nothing else transpired. No other accounts 

were affected—not the Irving Debt; not the MMA Assigned Debt (it was transferred, but not 

satisfied). 

These facts do not establish a setoff.  They establish only that NBSR transferred the 

MMA Assigned Debt to the Irving Companies, and the Irving Companies paid their affiliate for 

the same.  This is not a setoff.  By law, three elements are required in order for there to be a valid 

and effective setoff (the “Setoff Elements”). A creditor may rely upon a setoff only if it can 

establish the following: “(i) a decision to effectuate a setoff, (ii) some action accomplishing the 

setoff, and (iii) a recording of the setoff.” Citizens Bank of Maryland v. Strumpf, 516 U.S. 16, 19 

(1995) (citing Baker v. National City Bank of Cleveland, 511 F.2d 101 (6th Cir. 1975), and 

Normand Josef Enterprises, Inc. v. Ct. Nat. Bank, 646 A.2d 1289 (Conn. 1994)) The Baker Court 

and the Normand Josef Enterprises Court both offer instructive guidance on understanding the 

inter-play between the intent requirement inherent in the Setoff Elements.  For example, the 

Normand Josef Enterprises Court summarized its holding as follows: 

We therefore hold that as a matter of law, a bank effectuates its right of setoff 
only after it has performed some binding overt act and has made a record to 
evidence that action.  Furthermore, we hold that, consistent with the certainty and 
predictability required by banking operations in the commercial world, the act 
must be unequivocal, objectively ascertainable and final in order to be overt and 
binding.   
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Id. at 1299 (emphasis added).  The Baker Court articulated a similar rationale: “[Setoff] 

‘represents the right which one party has against another to use his claim in full or partial 

satisfaction of what he owes to the other.  That right is constantly exercised by business men in 

making book entries whereby one mutual debt is applied against another.’”  Id. (quoting Studley 

v. Boylston Bank, 229 U.S. 523, 528 (1913)).  Although the Setoff Elements “take their particular 

meaning from the world of banking, they suggest the more basic principle applicable here: setoff 

occurs only after the party holding the money acts to make its taking of the money permanent 

and indicates as much by canceling the other party’s debt in the amount taken.”  Amoco 

Production Co. v. Fry, 118 F.3d 812, 818 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (emphasis added).   

 In this case, there are no facts suggesting that the Irving Companies (the party claiming to 

have effectuated a setoff against the Debtor) have satisfied the Setoff Elements.  Assuming, for 

discussion purposes, that the requisite element of intent is present, the Irving Companies never 

actually cancelled or satisfied either the MMA Assigned Debt or the Irving Debt.  Both 

categories of debt remained outstanding on the books and records of the Irving Companies (and 

the Debtor as well).  The only entity to have received any satisfaction of debt was NBSR, which 

got payment for a portion of the MMA Assigned Debt.  In point of fact, as Mr. Hansen’s 

testimony unequivocally verifies, the Irving Companies never took the legally required steps to 

effectuate a prepetition setoff.  There was no steps taken to cancel the MMA Assigned Debt or to 

treat it as having been satisfied by setoff; conversely, no steps were taken to cancel the Irving 

Debt, or to treat it as having been satisfied by setoff.   Neither book entries nor any other overt 

action of the Irving Companies reflect any setoff.  In this regard, the following colloquy from 

Mr. Hansen’s deposition is revealing: 

19 Q Okay. All right. Did Irving inform the MMA that it 
20 was permanently resolving the MMA's debt to Irving 
21 Railroad? 
22 A I have no idea. 
23 Q Okay. And I think I may have asked you this, but bear 
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24 with me, did you have any discussions with anyone 
25 within Irving about how to handle on the books the 
1 payable that Irving Paper had to the MMA? 
2 A No, I did not. 
3 Q Okay. Do you know if anyone else did? 
4 A I have no knowledge of that. 
5 Q Okay. Did Irving inform the MMA that it was 
6 permanently resolving Irving Paper's debt to the MMA 
7 by effectuating a setoff? 
8 A I have no knowledge of that either. 
9 Q Okay. So you didn't have those kinds of 
10 conversations? 
11 A No, I did not. 
12 Q And you don't know if anyone else did? 
13 A No, I don't. 

(Hansen Depo. Tr., 38:19-25 & 40:1-13.)4  

Moreover, the only records produced in discovery purportedly evidencing the setoff are 

the Assignments, the Registers, and an e-mail to the Debtor enclosing the Registers.  The 

Assignments reflect nothing but the transfer of the MMA accounts receivable from NBSR to the 

Irving Companies.  The Registers do nothing but evidence the Irving Companies payment to 

NBSR for such assigned accounts.  That is all that there is; these records comprise the entire 

universe of documents which Irving proffers to establish the setoff, but they do no such thing.  

They fail to demonstrate in any fashion (let alone an objectively ascertainable fashion, as 

required by Normand Josef Enterprises), the satisfaction of the Irving Companies’ accounts 

payable to MMA (the Irving Debt, i.e. the latter company’s account receivable, and Wheeling’s 

collateral).  There is nothing in these documents evidencing the alleged setoff—nothing 

evidences an act to permanently eliminate the obligation of the Irving Companies to pay the 

accounts owed to Debtor.  Those accounts remained as open obligations on the books and 

records of the Debtor and, based upon the documents and testimony offered by the Irving 

                                                 
4  As noted above, the supposed setoff and elimination of (most of) the Irving Debt was news to MMA—the 
party whose receivable and payable supposedly were being setoff and eliminated.  (Gardner Dep. Tr., 33:25-34:12, 
34:17-35:12, 36:17-25, 37:14-38:25.)  Indeed, MMA’s records still reflect a payable to the Irving Companies as well 
as the Irving Debt as a receivable.  (Gardner Dep. TR., 36:6-16.) 
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Companies, on the Irving Companies’ books as well.  See Normand Josef Enterprises, Inc., 646 

A.2d at 1299.   

If there were any doubt about this, even the Irving Companies’ own communications with 

the Debtor concerning the Assignments and the Registers fail to claim any elimination, by setoff, 

of the obligations of the Irving Companies to MMA.  Thus, the email of Jim Mehan, of the 

Irving Companies, to Mr. Gardner, CFO of MMA states:  

Don, I was asked to send you support for what invoices were paid to NBSR 
through assignments.  As of today, the summary of invoices attached have been 
paid from Irving Paper, Irving Pulp & Paper and Irving Forest Products to NBSR.   

 
See Hansen Depo. Tr., Exhibit 4.  

  
This e-mail message informs MMA that the Irving Companies acquired the MMA 

Assigned Debt, and paid a portion of the same to their affiliate, NBSR. There is no claim of 

setoff.  There is no claim, for example, that the MMA Assigned Debt has been satisfied by setoff 

against the Irving Debt.  Conversely, there is no claim that the Irving Debt owed to MMA has 

been satisfied by setoff against the acquired MMA Assigned Debt. The message conveyed by the 

email is that the Irving Companies have bought and paid for the MMA Assigned Debt, and 

MMA should now pay the amounts owed to the Irving Companies. This is not a setoff.  

This is the entire state of the record concerning a purported setoff.  Simply put, there was 

none, and the Trustee’s assumption that there was makes the 9019 Motion fundamentally flawed. 

Had a setoff been effectuated prior to the Debtor’s filing of its Chapter 11 petition, the Trustee 

might well have something to fret about, but this is not the case.  Under Section 553(a)(2)(B) of 

the Bankruptcy Code, the acquisition by the Irving Companies of a potentially offsetting claim, 

which acquisition was been made within 90 days of the MMA petition, after the tragedy at Lac 

Megantic which made MMA insolvent, is plainly of no effect and creates no enforceable setoff 

rights for the Irving Companies.  Had this been correctly recognized by the Trustee, the 9019 

Motion would never have been filed because the Trustee would have recognized the importance 
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of 553(a)(2)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code.  The compromise proposed in the 9019 Motion is 

entirely improvident and without reasonable justification.   The 9019 Motion must therefore be 

denied. 

B. Irving Can Claim No “Constructive Trust”. 
 

Lastly, according to the 9019 Motion, the Irving Companies also contend that MMA held 

whatever funds it owed to the Irving Companies in a “constructive trust” for the Irving 

Companies and their affiliated railroad company pursuant to a swap agreement (the “Swap 

Agreement”).  Under the alleged Swap Agreement, whenever the Irving Companies paid an 

invoice owed to the Debtor, the Debtor was required, immediately, to use the funds so paid to 

pay any invoices issued to it by NBSR, the Irving Railroad, that arose by reason of the same 

shipment that gave rise to the MMA account.  Thus, monies were swapped:  Irving would pay 

MMA for rail shipments; and MMA would immediately use the money to pay the interline 

freight charges owed to NBSR.  

While the Swap Agreement is disputed, the matter is irrelevant to the 542(b) Motion, 

because no swap occurred regarding the account in question—the Irving Companies have held 

on to the funds needed to satisfy the Irving Debt owed to MMA (approximately $885,000) and 

have not paid it.  There is nothing to which a “constructive trust”, if it existed, could attach.  

Thus, even if there were a swap agreement, MMA has never gotten the money to fund it, nor has 

it gotten any money to hold “in trust”, if there were any trust.   

The thrust of Irving’s contention, however, appears to be that the Swap Agreement gave 

rise to a “constructive trust”, regardless of whether Irving actually paid an account.  Thus, the 

Irving Companies claim that any money they  might pay to the Debtor would, in their hands, be 

charged with a “constructive trust” and held for payment of the interline settlement charges owed 

to NBSR, the affiliated Irving Railroad.  
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The primary problem with Irving’s claim to a constructive trust is that in this District, and 

in the First Circuit, no such constructive trust exists as a matter of law.  See In re Morales Travel 

Agency, 667 F.2d 1069 (1st Cir. 1981).  Indeed, it is plainly the law of this District that there are 

no “constructive trusts” for railroad interline freight charges.  The point has been well articulated 

by Bankruptcy Judge Haines in Aroostook Railroad Company v. Burlington Northern & Santa 

Fe Railway (In re Bangor & Aroostook Railroad), 320 B.R. 226 (Bankr. D. Me. 2005), aff’d Do. 

No. 06-141-B-H, 2007 WL 607867 (D. Me. Feb. 23, 2007) (Hornby, J.). 

Judge Haines held that freight charges in that case were not held in trust, notwithstanding 

that the railroads had labeled their relationship one of trust, and his opinion is instructive for 

several reasons.  First, Judge Haines noticed a split among the circuits stemming from two 

different lines of federal cases considering the same question—In re Penn Central Transp. Co., 

486 F.2d 519 (3d Cir. 1973) (concluding that interline freight charges are held in trust) and 

Union Pacific Railroad Company v. Mortiz (In re Iowa Railroad Company), 840 F.2d 535 (7th 

Cir. 1988) (sharply criticizing Penn Central)—but ultimately dismissed Penn Central because it 

presents a federal common law approach that is not connected to a specific federal interest and 

conflicts with the Bankruptcy Code’s distribution scheme.  Id. at 238.  Second, he also noted 

that, like in the 542(b) Motion, the putative trust funds were commingled with other funds, 

thereby negating any plausible inference that a trust had been created. Id. at 239.  “One is not a 

‘mere conduit’ when it exercises unrestricted dominion and control over funds—no matter that it 

may later have to reckon with its creditors.”  Id. at 240.  Judge Haines gained support for this 

rationale from the First Circuit’s decision in In re Morales Travel Agency, supra.  In In re 

Morales Travel Agency, the First Circuit held that ticket receipts collected by an agent on behalf 

of a carrier were not held in trust for the carrier, notwithstanding an agreement declaring that the 
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receipts were to be held in trust, because the funds were commingled and there was no restriction 

on the agent’s use thereof.5   

The same rationale, denying applicability of a constructive trust, applies to the facts 

presently before the Court.  Discovery in the 542(b) Motion has revealed several important facts.  

First, Mr. Hansen pointed to no written contract or trust agreement purporting to create a trust.  

While he contends that the Swap Agreement was designed to effectuate a similar result 

(simultaneous transfers), he conceded being unaware of whether funds allegedly owed to the 

Irving Companies by the Debtor were segregated or commingled.  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 15:9-16:1-

14.)  Further, even if there were a written “trust” agreement, the Irving Debt was never funded—

the money in question at all times remained in the treasury of the Irving Companies.  Second, 

MMA did not recognize any such agreement, and did not consider payments from Irving to be 

held in trust, and it did not segregate those funds from others that it received.  (Gardner Depo. 

Tr., 25:17-26:7.)   

In a nutshell, First Circuit law, and the railroad cases in this District, disavow any 

constructive trust as between interline railroads.  The facts of this case would not support the 

application of the doctrine, even if it were recognized—Irving held the money in question in its 

treasury and never paid the account to MMA; MMA routinely comingled all of its funds, and 

never recognized either a duty to subordinate or to treat payments it received in trust.  As such, 

the constructive trust argument offers no support for the 9019 Motion.  It is supported by neither 

fact nor law, and must be disregarded as grounds to support the 9019 Motion.  

 
C. The Purported Setoff Is Ineffective As To Wheeling As A Secured Party 

Under The Maine Uniform Commercial Code. 
 

                                                 
5  In affirming Judge Haines’s decision, Judge Hornby noted that “Judge Haines’s well-written opinion is 
faithful to existing First Circuit precedent, namely In re Morales Travel Agency, 667 F.2d 1069 (1st Cir. 1980).”  
2007 WL 607867. 
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As the Court is aware, the Debtor and its affiliates granted Wheeling a security interest in 

all of their accounts, including accounts receivable, such as the Irving Debt, pursuant to the 

Security Agreement.  This grant of a security interest constitutes an “assignment” of the Irving 

Companies Debt, within the meaning of the Maine UCC.6  Because, as will be discussed below, 

the Irving Companies knew about the assignment before purporting to effectuate a setoff, they 

are barred from interposing such a defense pursuant to § 9-1404 of the Maine UCC7.  This is 

black-letter law. 

Section 9-1404 of the Maine UCC provides as follows: 

(1)  Unless an account debtor has made an enforceable agreement not to assert 
defenses or claims, and subject to subsections (2) through (5), the rights of an 
assignee are subject to:  
 

(a)  All terms of the agreement between the account debtor and assignor 
and any defense or claim in recoupment arising from the transaction that 
gave rise to the contract; and  
 
(b)  Any other defense or claim of the account debtor against the assignor 
that accrues before the account debtor receives a notification of the 
assignment authenticated by the assignor or the assignee.  

 
Section 9-1404 codifies two common-sense rules.  First, under subsection 1(a), the 

assignee—e.g. a secured creditor—takes an interest in an account subject to all defenses that 

could be interposed against the assignor and arising out of the same transaction.  See 11 

M.R.S.A. § 9-1404(1)(a).  Thus, if MMA failed to deliver a shipment, or damaged Irving’s 

property in transit, Wheeling’s interest in the Irving account receivable would be subject to any 

claim for damages that Irving, as the shipper, might make.  

                                                 
6  “Even though Article 9 usually refers to a creditor with a security interest as a ‘secured party,’ a secured 
party with a security interest in accounts is the ‘assignee’ under section 9-318” of the Maine UCC, which is the 
predecessor to § 9-1404 of the Maine UCC.  Me. Farmers Exchange, Inc. v. Farm Credit of Maine, A.C.A., 2002 
ME 18, ¶ 13 n.7, 789 A.2d 85, 89 (citing In re Otha C. Jean & Assoc. Inc., 152 B.R. 219, 222-23 (E.D.Tenn. 1993) 
(noting that this is the general rule)).  See also Artoc Bank and Trust, Ltd. v. Apex Oil Co. (In re Apex Oil Co.), 975 
F.2d 1365, 1369 (8th Cir. 1992) (“We see no meaningful difference between a security interest and an assignment 
for purposes of security.  In fact, they appear to be the same thing under Article 9”). 
7  The Wheeling Security Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  By its terms, it is governed by Maine 
law, including the Maine UCC. 
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Second, and of relevance to this case, pursuant to subsection 1(b), once the account 

debtor (i.e. the obligor of the assigned account) receives notice of the assignment to the assignee 

(secured creditor), the account-debtor cannot interpose a defense against the assignee that arises 

out of a different transaction from the one that created the assigned account. See 11 M.R.S.A. § 

9-1404(1)(b).   In a nutshell, while subsection 1(a) permits a recoupment or performance 

defense; section 1(b) prohibits, after notice of the assignment of the account, a classic “setoff” 

defense with respect to the account that constitutes collateral for the assignee, i.e. the setoff of 

debts that arise outside of the account itself.  

Thus, for the purpose of this case, once the Irving Companies received notice of the 

Wheeling’s security interest in accounts receivable, it could not (and cannot now) impose a 

defense, such as a setoff defense, that arises out of a transaction unrelated to the transaction that 

created the account itself.  So, for example, once the Irving Companies received notice of the 

Wheeling’s security interest, it could not setoff against the account it owed MMA for shipping 

services (the Irving Debt) accounts that it acquired by assignment from its affiliate, NBSR, for 

shipping services that NBSR had rendered to MMA.  

 Discovery in the 542(b) Motion has revealed that the Irving Companies received actual 

notice of Wheeling’s security interest in MMA’s accounts no later than August 30, 2012—about 

eleven months before the purported setoff.  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 49:20-50:1-4.)  The Irving 

Companies, at Mr. Hansen’s direction, regularly obtained credit reports from Dunn & Bradstreet, 

once or twice yearly for “everybody we do business with[.]”  (Hansen Depo. Tr., 50:1-12 & 

52:12-21.)  As Mr. Hansen testified, the Irving Companies obtained one such Dunn & Bradstreet 

report with respect to the Debtor on or about August 30, 2012 (the “D&B Report”), and that the 

D&B Report listed all UCC filings against the Debtor, including multiple entries reflecting 

Wheeling’s security interest in accounts of the Debtor, including accounts receivable.  (Hansen 

Depo. Tr., 50:2-4; 51:8-11; Exhibit 5, p. 12.)  As a result, from and after August 30, 2012, the 
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Irving Companies were on notice of the assignment of all accounts receivable to Wheeling.  

Because of this notification, the Irving Companies cannot assert against Wheeling defenses to 

payment of its MMA accounts that arise out of transactions unrelated to the transactions that 

created the account.   As such, it cannot setoff against the Irving Debt any debts owed by MMA 

that arose from different transactions, such as the MMA Assigned Debt. 

Bankruptcy courts have reached this very conclusion when applying the uniform version 

of § 9-1404 and its predecessor (§ 9-318).  For example, in a case on all fours with the facts in 

this case, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware held that an account-

debtor’s receipt of a Dunn & Bradstreet report indicating the existence of a security interest in 

accounts that it owed, barred the account-debtor from asserting a setoff defense.  Thus, in In re 

Commun. Dynamics, Inc., 300 B.R. 220 (Bankr. D. Del. 2003), the Delaware Bankruptcy Court 

held that an account-debtor’s receipt of a Dun & Bradstreet report disclosing the existence of a 

security interest in the account debtors account (the payee’s accounts receivable) barred the 

offset of debts that arose from different transactions.  This is precisely the case we have here—

the Irving Companies have been on notice since August of 2012 of Wheeling’s security interest 

in MMA accounts receivable by virtue of the D&B Report that they obtained in the ordinary 

course of their business.   

The United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit reached virtually the same 

conclusion under § 9-404’s predecessor (§ 9-318 of the pre-amendment UCC) and held that an 

account-debtor could not offset unrelated accounts against an account payable upon receipt of 

notice that the account payable constituted collateral for a secured creditor.  Artoc Bank and 

Trust, Ltd., v. Apex Oil Co. (In re Apex Oil Co.), 975 F.2d 1365, 1370 (8th Cir. 1992).   In In re 

Apex Oil Co., the Eighth Circuit held that a stamped notice on an invoice informing account-

debtors that a bank had been “granted a security interest in the amount of this invoice” and 

directing payment to the secured party was sufficient to put the account-debtor on notice of the 
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assignment. Thus, the account-debtor had a duty to inquire about the security interest before 

attempting to effectuate a setoff.   

At the very least, the notice should have raised a question in the mind of Apex, 
causing it to inquire about the security interest before setting off its account.  . . . 
[n]otice under § 9.318 embraces those things that a reasonably diligent inquiry 
and exercise of the means of information at had would have disclosed.  . . .  At 
least where millions of dollars are at stake, as was the case here, a company acts 
unreasonably if it sets off a debt to it from another transaction, after being given 
notice of another’s security interest in the amount due. 

 
Id.  

These cases control the outcome here.  It is undisputed that the purported setoff rights, 

having been acquired by assignment from NBSR in July of 2013, arise from transactions 

different from those that created the Irving Debt in the first place. It is also undisputed that the 

Irving Companies received the D&B Report nearly a year before attempting to effectuate the 

setoff.  As a result, they knew of Wheeling’s security interest in MMA accounts receivable.  

Under the provisions of § 9-1404 of the Maine UCC, the governing law in this case, the Irving 

Companies may not offset the accounts assigned to them by NBSR against what they owe to 

MMA, the Debtor. 

For this reason as well, the 9019 Motion must be denied. 

CONCLUSION 

 It is quite apparent that the compromise proposed by the 9019 Motion is improvident and 

unwise, both from a procedural and a substantive perspective.  It is procedurally defective 

because Wheeling, the major stakeholder in the subject account, does not consent to the 

compromise.  It is substantively defective because the compromise is based on a false 

assumption as to controlling facts.  This false assumption led the Trustee to fail to consider (as to 

an inchoate setoff) dispositive, favorable, and controlling law—Section 553(a)(2)(B) of the 

Bankruptcy Code. 
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The motivations that drove the Trustee to propose such an unwise compromise are 

readily apparent. When the 542(b) Motion was filed, on August 30, 2013, the Trustee had neither 

secured a loan commitment for post-petition financing, nor had the Court approved the loan 

commitment subsequently provided by Camden National Bank.  As the Trustee revealed in his 

motion for authority to borrow from Camden National Bank, the loan was badly needed because 

the Trustee had grave concerns about running out of cash for railroad operations before a sale 

could be achieved.  In a rush to bring in cash, at a time when the prospects for a loan were 

uncertain, the Trustee filed the 542(b) Motion.  He sought an expedited hearing and then he 

settled it quickly, all without having allowed adequate time for discovery and without having 

undertaken adequate discovery.  In a drive to bring in needed cash, the Trustee filed the 9019 

Motion and requested an expedited hearing.  Everything in this contested matter has been 

dramatically expedited in the quest for cash, and as a result, the time needed to conduct adequate 

discovery of the controlling facts and to consider available legal authorities, has been severely 

truncated.  

Ironically, as this Objection is filed, the Trustee’s urgent need for cash has subsided.  The 

Trustee has obtained a substantial loan commitment from Camden National Bank and on 

October 9, 2012, the Court approved the proposed loan.  As the Trustee has reported to the Court 

and parties-in-interest, the loan is expected to close not later than October 25, 2013.   

While the Trustee’s urgent need for cash has subsided, the collateral damage caused by 

his rush for approval of a deal with the Irving Companies has not.  At this time, with a loan 

closing on the horizon, and the potential for a cash crunch eliminated, the Trustee persists in 

pressing a settlement that purports to compromise an asset that is no longer property of the 

estate, and that improvidently gives away value that should not be given away. Wheeling 

respectfully requests that the Court view the 9019 Motion not through the lens of a cash-starved 

debtor staring into the abyss, but rather from the perspective of a creditor that has superior 
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property rights to the asset in question and is not motivated to sacrifice the asset in the name of 

raising quick cash.  When viewed through this lens, and when the facts of the case and 

controlling law are adequately and correctly considered, there can be no rationale for giving 

away Wheeling’s rights to an $885,000 account receivable.  The Trustee’s cash crisis has passed, 

and the time has come to approach the 542(b) Motion in a deliberate and considered fashion. 

When that is done, it becomes clear that the compromise embodied in the 9019 Motion is hasty 

and improvident and should be denied.  

Requirements Of D. ME. LBR 9013-1(f) 

1. Paragraph 1 of the 9019 Motion contains legal conclusions to which no response 

is required. 

2. Paragraph 2 of the 9019 Motion contains legal conclusions to which no response 

is required. 

3. Paragraph 3 of the 9019 Motion contains legal conclusions to which no response 

is required. 

4. Paragraph 4 of the 9019 Motion contains legal conclusions to which no response 

is required. 

5. Wheeling admits the allegations made in ¶ 5 of the 9019 Motion. 

6. Wheeling admits the allegations made in ¶ 6 of the 9019 Motion.  

7.  Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 7 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same.  

8. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 8 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same.  

9. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 9 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same. 
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10. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 10 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same. 

11. Wheeling admits that the allegations contained in ¶ 11 of the 9019 Motion. 

12. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 12 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same. 

13. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations regarding beliefs of the Trustee or the Irving Companies and therefore denies the 

allegations made in ¶ 13 of the 9019 Motion. 

14. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations in ¶ 14 of the 9019 Motion and therefore denies the same. 

15. Wheeling denies the allegations made in ¶ 15 of the 9019 Motion.   

16. Wheeling admits the allegations made in ¶ 16 of the 9019 Motion.  Wheeling 

denies that the approval of the relief requested is appropriate. 

17. Paragraph 17 of the 9019 Motion states various legal conclusions to which no 

responses are required.    

18. Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations regarding what the Trustee “believes” vis-à-vis the terms of the compromise and 

settlement and therefore denies the allegations made in the first sentence of ¶ 18 of the 9019 

Motion.  Wheeling denies the allegations made in the second sentence of ¶ 18 of the 9019 

Motion.  Wheeling admits that the Trustee has a reasonable probability of successfully litigating 

the 542(b) Motion and denies the remainder of the allegations made in the third sentence of ¶ 18 

of the 9019 Motion.  Wheeling admits the allegations made in the fourth sentence of ¶18 of the 

9019 Motion.  The allegations made in the fifth sentence of ¶ 18 of the 9019 Motion constitute 

legal conclusions to which no response is required.  Wheeling lacks information sufficient to 

form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations in the sixth sentence of ¶ 18 of the 9019 
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Motion and therefore deny the same.  Wheeling denies the allegations made in the seventh 

sentence of ¶18 of the Motion. 

19. Wheeling denies the allegations made in the first sentence of ¶ 19 of the 9019 

Motion.  Wheeling lacks information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the 

allegations in the second sentence of ¶ 19 of the 9019 Motion and therefore deny the same.  

Wheeling denies the allegations made in the third sentence of ¶ 19 of the 9019 Motion.  

Wheeling admits the allegations made in the fourth sentence of ¶ 19 of the 9019 Motion.  

Wheeling denies the allegations made in the fifth sentence of ¶19 of the 9019 Motion. 

20. Wheeling denies the allegations made in ¶ 20 of the 9019 Motion.  

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, Wheeling respectfully requests that the Court enter an 

Order: 

A. Denying the relief requested in the 9019 Motion; 

B. Finding that the compromise and settlement is not appropriate under  
Rule 9019 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and applicable case law; 
and 

 
C. Granting such other relief as the Court deems just and appropriate. 

Dated:  October 15, 2013   /s/ George J. Marcus      
George J. Marcus 
David C. Johnson 
Andrew C. Helman 
 
Counsel for Wheeling & Lake Erie Railway 
Company 

 
MARCUS, CLEGG & MISTRETTA, P.A. 
One Canal Plaza, Suite 600 
Portland, ME  04101 
207.828.8000 
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DUVERNAY REPORTING, INC.
2 Merrill Road

Westbrook, ME 04092
207.854.2721

1

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT     

DISTRICT OF MAINE

In re:                                       :

MONTREAL MAINE & ATLANTIC RAILWAY LTD.,    : Case No. 13-10670

                       Debtor.             :

DEPOSITION OF: ROBERT J. KEACH, in his capacity as

Chapter 11 Trustee of Montreal Maine & Atlantic Railway, Ltd.,

via DONALD GARDNER

Taken before Veronica L. Morrill, Registered Professional

Reporter, Notary Public in and for the State of Maine, on

October 10, 2013, at the offices of Marcus, Clegg & Mistretta,

One Canal Plaza, Suite 600, Portland, Maine, commencing at 10:04

a.m. pursuant to notice given.
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APPEARANCES:

FOR WHEELING & LAKE ERIE RAILWAY CO.:

MARCUS, CLEGG & MISTRETTA, P.A.
BY:  DANIEL L. ROSENTHAL, ESQ.
One Canal Plaza, Suite 600
Portland, ME 04101 

     

FOR IRVING PAPER, LTD.; IRVING PULP & PAPER, LTD.; AND J.D. 
IRVING, LTD.:

THOMPSON HINE, LLP
BY:  ALAN R. LEPENE, ESQ.
3900 Key Center
127 Public Square
Cleveland, OH 44114-1291
216.566.5520

FOR THE WITNESS:

BERNSTEIN SHUR
BY:  MICHAEL A. FAGONE, ESQ.
100 Middle Street, PO Box 9729
Portland, ME 04104-5029
207.774.1200

PIESKE REPORTING SERVICE
1-800-698-1666

3

INDEX OF EXAMINATION

EXAMINATION BY:                           PAGE:

MR. ROSENTHAL:........................... 4

MR. LEPENE............................... 46

MR. ROSENTHAL............................ 82

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT NO.                                        PAGE:

1 notice of deposition 4

Irving 08/10/11 e-mail string 46

Paper 1

Irving 09/23/11 e-mail 46

Paper 2

Irving   09/20/11 e-mail string 46

Paper 3

Irving 10/26/11 and 10/27/11 e-mail string 46
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Irving 11/16/11, 11/17/11, 11/23/11 e-mail 46

Paper 5 string

4

DONALD GARDNER, being duly sworn, on his oath, 1

deposes and says as follows:  2

EXAMINATION3

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:4

Mr. Gardner, good morning.  5 Q.

Good morning. 6 A.

My name is Dan Rosenthal.  We met a minute 7 Q.

ago.  And I represent the Wheeling and Lake 8

Erie Railroad.  9

Mmm-hmm. 10 A.

You understand you are here to have your 11 Q.

deposition taken today? 12

Yes. 13 A.

(Deposition Exhibit No. 1 marked.) 14

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:  15

I'm going to hand you what I've marked as 16 Q.

exhibit -- and I didn't actually write Number 17

1 -- and just ask you if you have ever seen 18

that before? 19

No. 20 A.

Okay.  Let me ask you to -- represent to you 21 Q.

that it's a Notice of Deposition of Robert 22

Keach in his capacity as the Chapter 11 23

Trustee of the Montreal Maine & Atlantic 24

Railway.  25

5

Mmm-hmm.1 A.

I'm going to call that the MMA today, if 2 Q.

that's all right with you? 3

Sure. 4 A.

On page three there are a list of topics.  And 5 Q.

I have talked to Mr. Fagone, and it's my 6

understanding today that I'm going to be -- my 7

expectation that I'll be asking you questions 8

about these topics, with the exception of 9

number two, and that your answers, to the 10

extent that you can answer my questions, will 11

be those of the MMA.  12

Is that your understanding today?  13

MR. FAGONE:  Let me interpose something 14

if I might, Dan. 15

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure. 16

MR. FAGONE:  If memory serves, you and I 17

exchanged e-mails on the afternoon and evening 18

of Monday, October 8, 2013, regarding this 19

deposition, in particular regarding the 20

30(b)(6) designation in the Notice of 21

Deposition.  And the trustee has agreed to 22

make Mr. Gardner available subject to the 23

terms that were contained in those e-mails 24

between us, which I would like to incorporate 25
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by reference onto the record here this 1

morning. 2

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yeah.  And what I 3

thought we would do is if you want to clarify 4

or -- I mean, my understanding is -- and this 5

is the reason I'm, you know, raising this -- 6

is that I would be asking you questions about 7

the topics in the notice and that you would 8

answer them to the extent that you can.  And 9

if you can't, then Mr. Fagone and I will have 10

to talk afterwards about whether there is 11

going to be any followup and what that might 12

consist of.  That's what I took away from our 13

back and forth.  Is that accurate in your 14

view?  15

MR. FAGONE:  Yes.  That's a fair 16

summary. 17

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay. 18

MR. FAGONE:  What I want to make sure 19

we're clear on, however, is that Mr. Gardner 20

is not being tendered as the person with the 21

most knowledge on all of the matters for 22

examination listed on Exhibit A to the 23

deposition notice.  24

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yeah.  25

7

MR. FAGONE:  He has substantial 1

knowledge regarding at least matter number 2

four.  Okay?  Beyond that, I guess I will 3

leave it to the examination, but the trustee 4

is not by making Mr. Gardner available 5

conceding that he has the most knowledge with 6

respect to any particular matters set forth on 7

Exhibit A.  And I'm happy to reserve rights 8

with respect to what happens after this 9

deposition this morning on anything else. 10

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay. 11

MR. FAGONE:  Okay. 12

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:13

Mr. Gardner, does any or all of that make 14 Q.

sense to you? 15

Generally. 16 A.

In other words, do you understand what we're 17 Q.

going to do here today? 18

In general terms, sure.19 A.

Have you had your deposition taken before? 20 Q.

No. 21 A.

Let me just run through some real basic kind 22 Q.

of ground rules here.  The court reporter, 23

Veronica, is here taking down everything that 24

we say.  25

8

Mmm-hmm. 1 A.

I'm going to be asking you questions.  2 Q.

Hopefully you'll be able to answer them.  3

Do you understand that piece of the 4

process? 5

Mmm-hmm. 6 A.

She is only able to record words and not head 7 Q.

shakes, and nods, and nonverbal communication.  8

She can probably write down uh-huh, but it's 9

better if you can answer yes, no, words type 10

of -- 11

I understand. 12 A.

Okay.  I'm going to try very hard to let you 13 Q.

finish your answers to my questions.  And I'm 14

going to ask you to try to let me finish my 15

questions before you answer.  Sometimes people 16

talk over each other.  And it creates a 17

problem for the court reporter and the record.18

So can you try to follow that? 19

I will. 20 A.

If you need to take a break, let me know.  If 21 Q.

we are not in the middle of a question, we 22

will accommodate you.  23

Okay. 24 A.

Okay?  Now, can you tell me, sir, you are 25 Q.

9

currently employed by the MMA? 1

I am. 2 A.

What's your position? 3 Q.

I am the chief financial officer, but it's the 4 A.

vice president of administration and CFO. 5

Okay.  How long have you held that position? 6 Q.

Just over five years. 7 A.

Let me go back to ask you about your 8 Q.

education.  Did you graduate from college? 9

I did. 10 A.

What was your degree? 11 Q.

I have an economic -- a degree in economics, 12 A.

BA, from University of New Hampshire.  And I 13

have an MBA from Boston College in finance. 14

When you left Boston College, did you go to 15 Q.

work? 16

Yes. 17 A.

Where did you go to work? 18 Q.

Maine National Bank. 19 A.

What was your job there? 20 Q.

I was a financial analyst. 21 A.

And how long were you there? 22 Q.

A little over a year. 23 A.

Where did you go from there? 24 Q.

I joined Raytheon. 25 A.
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What did you do at Raytheon? 1 Q.

Financial analyst. 2 A.

How long were you at Raytheon? 3 Q.

I believe almost four years. 4 A.

Where did you go from Raytheon? 5 Q.

A company called -- well, it's called now 6 A.

ENSR, E-N-S-R.  It's an environmental 7

consulting firm. 8

And was that another financial analyst job? 9 Q.

There, yes, budgeting job. 10 A.

How long were you there? 11 Q.

About three years. 12 A.

All right.  And what was next? 13 Q.

A company called Kazmaier Associates, which 14 A.

was a private -- privately-held company in the 15

sporting goods industry. 16

How long were you there? 17 Q.

Over a dozen years. 18 A.

What kind of job was that? 19 Q.

I was the -- ultimately the financial officer.  20 A.

I went in as treasurer but became the 21

finance -- CFO. 22

Where did you go from there? 23 Q.

I went to a distributor of construction 24 A.

supplies, Genalco, and was the chief operating 25

11

officer for them for eight years. 1

Okay.  And what was next? 2 Q.

I went back to Kazmaier for about four 3 A.

years --4

Okay.  5 Q.

-- in the same capacity or slightly broader in 6 A.

terms of some operating role, including the 7

oversight of production facilities in 8

California. 9

Okay.  10 Q.

So -- 11 A.

What was next? 12 Q.

Then I came back from California -- we moved 13 A.

to California.  And then we moved back to 14

Maine, which I was living in Southern 15

California, moving to Maine.  And came to work 16

for Maine Drilling and Blasting. 17

Okay.  How long were you there? 18 Q.

A little over two years.  And then I joined 19 A.

the railroad. 20

Okay.  When you joined the railroad, is that 21 Q.

the current position --22

Yes. 23 A.

-- that you hold now? 24 Q.

Yes. 25 A.

12

All right.  I would like to mention or 1 Q.

reference a couple of background facts that I 2

don't think are disputed, but I just want to 3

make sure we're on the same page.  Okay? 4

Mmm-hmm. 5 A.

Before August 7 of 2013 the MMA hauled freight 6 Q.

for certain Irving companies, correct? 7

Correct. 8 A.

And there are a couple of different Irving 9 Q.

companies that MMA hauled freight for.  I'm 10

going to call them Irving Paper today.11

Okay.12 A.

Does that make sense? 13 Q.

Yes. 14 A.

MMA also contracted with two railroads; the 15 Q.

New Brunswick Southern Railway Company and the 16

Maine Northern Railway, to handle some piece 17

of that transportation?18

I understand. 19 A.

I may refer to those railroads as Irving 20 Q.

Railroad today.  21

Okay.  22 A.

If at any point I'm using those terms in ways 23 Q.

that don't make sense to you, I would ask you 24

to tell me that.  Okay?  25

13

Very well. 1 A.

And if there is a piece of your answer that 2 Q.

requires you to break down by a particular 3

entity, I'm going to ask you to do that.  4

Mmm-hmm. 5 A.

Okay? 6 Q.

Okay.7 A.

All right.  Let me show you what we marked 8 Q.

yesterday as Exhibit 2 to the Irving 9

deposition, and just ask if you have ever seen 10

this before? 11

No, I haven't. 12 A.

Okay.  Were you involved at all in negotiation 13 Q.

of an agreement between the MMA bankruptcy 14

trustee and Irving? 15

Was I -- no, I had no contact with any of the 16 A.

Irving people. 17

Okay.  Did you participate in making a deal 18 Q.

with Irving in the context of bankruptcy? 19

MR. FAGONE:  I'm going to object to the 20

question to the extent it asked the witness to 21

reveal communications between him and the 22

Chapter 11 trustee or his advisors and 23

lawyers.24

If your -- subject to that, you can go 25
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ahead and answer.  In other words, I don't 1

want you to reveal communications you may have 2

had with me or other lawyers employed by the 3

Chapter 11 trustee.4

THE WITNESS:  I understand. 5

That was the only -- that was to the extent 6 A.

that I was involved with whatever the 7

negotiations were; was communicating with the 8

trustee or his advisors. 9

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 10

Dealing with the lawyers? 11 Q.

Dealing with the lawyers. 12 A.

All right.  Are you familiar with something 13 Q.

called a swap agreement between Irving and 14

MMA? 15

I don't believe there is any swap agreement. 16 A.

Okay.  Was there ever something called a swap 17 Q.

agreement? 18

No. 19 A.

Was there an agreement between Irving and MMA 20 Q.

relating to how payment would be handled as 21

between Irving Paper and MMA and MMA and 22

Irving Railroad? 23

There is no written agreement, as far as I'm 24 A.

aware. 25

15

Okay.  Was there a practice that applied to 1 Q.

how payment would be handled --2

Yes. 3 A.

-- between those three parties? 4 Q.

Yes. 5 A.

What was that practice? 6 Q.

There are in my view two different approaches 7 A.

that were -- had been used over a period of 8

time -- over the period of time I've been 9

involved. 10

Okay.  11 Q.

Early on it was the practice of every week the 12 A.

Irving companies, mainly the paper 13

companies --14

Mmm-hmm.  15 Q.

-- would -- as far as I knew would tell us 16 A.

what they were going to pay the railroad. 17

Okay.  18 Q.

And they would tell us what the railroad, MMA, 19 A.

was to pay their railroad.  That was generally 20

communicated to our controller, who has since 21

passed away, and clerical people in our 22

office. 23

And did MMA have any input on how this would 24 Q.

be handled? 25

16

Initially, no, but as time went on I objected 1 A.

to some of the demands of our payment, in that 2

the payment to the railroad was governed by -- 3

I believe you're making reference to a 4

commercial agreement.  And that stipulates how 5

things are to be invoiced and how they are to 6

be paid between the railroads, particularly 7

MMA paying the -- in this case the NBSR. 8

Okay.  9 Q.

And the demand that I just explained of what 10 A.

we were to pay the NBSR did not follow that 11

document. 12

What was that document that you're referring 13 Q.

to?  You said a minute ago that I was 14

referring to a commercial agreement.  15

Well, I've seen written -- there is a 16 A.

commercial agreement that has been referred 17

to, dated sometime in January of 2003, between 18

the NBSR and Montreal Maine & Atlantic 19

Railroad setting the initial relationship in 20

place when MMA was created. 21

Okay.  And it was your view that the demands 22 Q.

that Irving was making for how it would be 23

paid didn't comply with that agreement? 24

Yes. 25 A.

17

Did you communicate that to anyone at Irving? 1 Q.

Yes. 2 A.

Who was that? 3 Q.

Principally the person who was making the 4 A.

demand. 5

And who was that person? 6 Q.

It was a lady, just gone blank on her name. 7 A.

All right.  8 Q.

But it was via e-mail. 9 A.

Okay.  10 Q.

And I did speak to her at one point. 11 A.

What did she say? 12 Q.

She would check it out, as I recall. 13 A.

Did she? 14 Q.

I believe she did. 15 A.

Did anything change? 16 Q.

Not at that time. 17 A.

Was it the -- what was it about the demands 18 Q.

that Irving was making that you felt didn't 19

comply with the agreement? 20

They were as much as two weeks sooner -- 21 A.

requiring payment as much as two weeks prior 22

to what the agreement would call for, for the 23

payment terms. 24

Okay.  What about the payment of money from 25 Q.
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Irving to MMA?  Did MMA have any input on when 1

and how much it would be paid by Irving for 2

amounts due? 3

We made demands.  And I don't mean that in a 4 A.

legal demand, but I mean we requested 5

additional payments.  They generally were also 6

outside of -- or beyond the terms by a few 7

days. 8

So, in other words, Irving was paying MMA 9 Q.

late, and demanding that at the same time MMA 10

turn that money back to MMA Railroad early.  11

Is that fair? 12

That is correct. 13 A.

Did you discuss with anyone at Irving, whether 14 Q.

it was the woman whose name who you can't 15

remember or anyone else, the basic concept of 16

Irving's requirement that these payments be 17

made simultaneously? 18

Well, they weren't necessarily simultaneous 19 A.

payments. 20

Okay.  Let me back up and ask you that then.  21 Q.

Was there a practice of the money changing 22

hands at or around the same moment? 23

Within a few days, yes. 24 A.

A few days? 25 Q.

19

Yes. 1 A.

Okay.  And was that something that Irving 2 Q.

insisted upon? 3

Yes. 4 A.

And MMA agreed to do it? 5 Q.

Yes. 6 A.

Why? 7 Q.

It was -- the cash receipts that we obtain 8 A.

from the Irving companies was considerably 9

more than that which we paid out.  So standing 10

on a few days' principle would have cost us a 11

considerable amount of cash. 12

Okay.  13 Q.

Meaning that if they were paying us $300,000 14 A.

to $400,000 and we were paying them $80,000, I 15

would have been remiss in fighting --16

Sure.  17 Q.

-- over a few days, in the context of where we 18 A.

were. 19

Is there anything in writing that described 20 Q.

this arrangement? 21

There were weekly e-mails saying here is what 22 A.

we are sending.  We expect -- I don't know if 23

those were the words, but you should be 24

sending... 25

20

Okay.  You mentioned that this was the 1 Q.

arrangement early on.  Did it change? 2

It did. 3 A.

When? 4 Q.

It changed when the transportation of crude 5 A.

oil became a substantial and significant 6

financial amount, let's put it that way. 7

When was that? 8 Q.

I want to say May -- well, it was about May of 9 A.

2012 --10

Okay.  11 Q.

-- although we had talked about it prior to 12 A.

that for a couple of months. 13

And can you tell me about what the changes 14 Q.

consisted of?15

The first principle was that in order to pay 16 A.

according to the commercial agreement we would 17

be paying in about 30 days from the time we 18

moved the train to the NBSR. 19

Okay.  20 Q.

We were not being paid by the customer until 21 A.

anywhere from, well, 35 to 60 days later, 22

because this was received traffic, and our 23

cash receipts for these trains was through the 24

interline settlement system, ISS. 25

21

So MMA was participating in that system? 1 Q.

That's right. 2 A.

And Irving was too? 3 Q.

They -- no, they do not participate in the 4 A.

interline settlement system or haven't for as 5

long as I've known. 6

Okay.  I guess I got a little confused when 7 Q.

you said that the payment was being done 8

pursuant to that system -- or maybe I 9

misunderstood that.  Let me ask you to tell 10

me -- kind of go back and tell me what you 11

were saying when you were talking about the 12

interline settlement system.  13

The dollars became very substantial, millions 14 A.

of dollars, or as much as a million dollars, 15

that we would have had to pay the Irving 16

railroads prior to our receipt of any cash 17

from the movement. 18

Okay.  19 Q.

MR. FAGONE:  Can I interject?  When you 20

say prior to our receipt of cash for the 21

movement, are you referring to receipt of cash 22

from the Irving Paper companies or from some 23

other payor?  24

THE WITNESS:  No, some other payor.  25
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BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 1

Okay.  2 Q.

It had nothing to do with the paper company at 3 A.

this point. 4

So it's that payment from the other payor 5 Q.

that's subject to the interline settlement? 6

Mmm-hmm.  That's right.  7 A.

MR. FAGONE:  I'm sorry.  I just thought 8

that clarification might help. 9

MR. ROSENTHAL:  It's no problem. 10

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 11

I understand -- is that the background to -- 12 Q.

That --13 A.

-- what changed? 14 Q.

-- as the background to the change. 15 A.

Okay.  16 Q.

At which point that item, as well as the other 17 A.

activity that we were having that was just 18

going on, on a routine, generally we had a 19

greater leverage in terms of what we had to 20

pay them, and therefore I could -- 21

Them being the Irving Railroad? 22 Q.

The Irving Railroad.  I could elicit better 23 A.

adherence to terms. 24

Okay.  So what was the change to the terms 25 Q.

23

that you were able to receive? 1

Initially I wanted -- I would pay them the 2 A.

amounts for the oil if the Irving Paper 3

companies would pay the amounts that were due 4

for the other transportation in -- within 5

terms. 6

Okay.  So did that call for -- let me withdraw 7 Q.

that.  8

Were you able to get to a practice with 9

Irving in which you got paid by the paper 10

company at or around the same time that you 11

paid the Irving Railroad? 12

It was last fall that I insisted I would not 13 A.

pay the railroads unless I received what I 14

wanted.  And at one point I suggested -- and 15

did, in fact -- deduct from what I paid the 16

railroad what the paper company owed the 17

railroad, MMA. 18

Okay.  And did this evolve to a point where 19 Q.

there were simultaneous or contemporaneous 20

payments? 21

What this evolved to was a relationship I then 22 A.

had with a gentleman in their offices, Ryan 23

Ellis.  And I was referred to him by the 24

president of the -- or the chief executive -- 25

24

I'm not sure of the title quite honestly -- of 1

the railroad to work this out.  And he was 2

pretty -- he understood what the situation 3

was.  He understood the terms.  And he is the 4

one that told me it was very difficult to do 5

what I had just done.  6

And then we began a relationship where 7

monthly, at least, he and I would determine 8

what cash would come.  I would ask him for 9

certain amounts from the Irving companies.  He 10

would report back.  And I would report what I 11

was going to pay.  The transaction generally 12

all happened within a week, within a current 13

week.  I mean, we picked a week.  It's not 14

within a week of the time we talked. 15

Okay.  So let me just be clear here.  And I'm 16 Q.

not trying to beat a dead horse, but is it 17

your understanding that there was no agreement 18

in place that called for money to change hands 19

between Irving Paper and MMA at or -- at the 20

same time or within minutes, let's say, that 21

money would change hands from MMA to Irving 22

Railroad? 23

No. 24 A.

Okay.  It's your understanding that there was 25 Q.

25

no such agreement? 1

No. 2 A.

No.  Just for the record, no, it's not your 3 Q.

understanding or -- 4

It is my understanding there was no agreement 5 A.

that the transactions were occurring 6

simultaneously. 7

Okay.  Just because the word, agreement, can 8 Q.

be a loaded term, is it your understanding 9

that there was no such practice to actually do 10

that? 11

There was no practice to do that. 12 A.

Okay.  13 Q.

There are serious physical constraints and 14 A.

currency issues that preclude that from ever 15

happening. 16

Okay.  Did MMA ever take money from Irving 17 Q.

Paper and kind of hold it in trust for the 18

railroad? 19

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form.  20

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 21

Do you understand what I mean by that? 22 Q.

Did we hold money in an escrow account or 23 A.

anything of that nature?  24

Correct.  25 Q.
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No. 1 A.

Did you take Irving Paper money and put it in 2 Q.

a separate account from where other monies 3

coming into --4

No. 5 A.

-- MMA would go? 6 Q.

Never. 7 A.

Now, at some point did Irving Paper stop 8 Q.

paying MMA's bills? 9

This year, yes. 10 A.

Okay.  When was that? 11 Q.

I believe it was -- let me answer it a 12 A.

different way.  I believe the last time they 13

paid us, paid MMA, was I want to say early 14

June. 15

Of 2013? 16 Q.

Of 2013.  It may have been May.  I would have 17 A.

to go back to check for sure. 18

Would it be fair to say there were invoices 19 Q.

out there for work that MMA performed that 20

Irving Paper didn't pay? 21

Yes. 22 A.

Did you talk to anyone at Irving about that? 23 Q.

Not necessarily.  No, I haven't other than -- 24 A.

excuse me.  I had sent a note to this 25

27

gentleman, Ryan Ellis, and conveyed what I had 1

expected from him or from the Irving Paper 2

companies -- I believe that was done sometime 3

in June -- and had not heard anything from him 4

at that time. 5

And was what you expected, that you conveyed 6 Q.

in that note, was that you expected to be 7

paid? 8

Yes. 9 A.

Okay.  Did you talk to either Mr. Ellis or 10 Q.

anyone else at Irving about why they weren't 11

paying? 12

No.  There was -- seemed their normal form. 13 A.

Do you know what effect, if any -- let me 14 Q.

withdraw that. 15

There was a train derailment in July --16

Yes. 17 A.

-- right? 18 Q.

Yes. 19 A.

Do you know if that played a role in Irving 20 Q.

Paper's not continuing to pay MMA? 21

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form. 22

I wouldn't know.  I would presume a lot of 23 A.

things, but they never explicitly said 24

anything to me. 25

28

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 1

Okay.  Do you know if they had that 2 Q.

conversation with anyone else at MMA? 3

I don't know. 4 A.

The payment of MMA's bills to Irving Paper is 5 Q.

something that would be within your domain as 6

the CFO; is that right? 7

Our payments to Irving Paper?  We never paid 8 A.

Irving Paper. 9

If I said that I misspoke.  I meant payment by 10 Q.

Irving Paper to MMA.  11

Yes. 12 A.

That would fall within your area? 13 Q.

Yes.  14 A.

Did you follow up with MMA at any point about 15 Q.

outstanding bills, other than the note that 16

you mentioned to Mr. Ellis? 17

No. 18 A.

And I think -- I'm replaying that question in 19 Q.

my head.  I think I just asked you if you 20

followed up with MMA.  I meant to say did you 21

follow up with Irving Paper. 22

No, I did not. 23 A.

Okay.  24 Q.

My only contact with anyone in the Irving 25 A.

29

organization, after a period of time, had 1

resorted to Mr. Ellis, and no one else. 2

Okay.  Now, at some point are you aware that 3 Q.

Irving Railroad assigned to Irving Paper its 4

claims to be paid by the MMA?5

I saw those documents, yes. 6 A.

When did you become aware of that? 7 Q.

Sometime in July. 8 A.

And how did you become aware of that? 9 Q.

Those documents -- copies of those were sent 10 A.

to MMA. 11

Okay.  Were they sent to you at MMA? 12 Q.

I don't know.  They ended up on my desk. 13 A.

Fair enough.  Did you ever talk to anyone at 14 Q.

Irving about that? 15

No. 16 A.

All right.  So let me show you -- let me see 17 Q.

if we're on the same page -- what yesterday 18

was marked as Exhibit 3.  Just take a minute 19

and look through those.  20

Okay.  21 A.

MR. FAGONE:  Dan, while the witness is 22

reviewing the document you've handed to him, 23

I'd just note for the record that the document 24

marked as Irving 3 is a three-page document 25
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that's stapled.  And you in fact handed him 1

six documents, only one of which is 2

identified.  I assume Irving 3 you're 3

referring to all six of them?  4

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.  The exhibit is a 5

package of six documents, six three-page, 6

stapled-together documents.  7

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 8

Have you seen those before? 9 Q.

Yes. 10 A.

Are those the assignments you were referring 11 Q.

to a minute ago? 12

Yes, I'm not sure -- I don't know that I have 13 A.

received all six of these documents. 14

Okay.  15 Q.

It's more than one, but I couldn't tell you -- 16 A.

Do you know how many there were? 17 Q.

More than one. 18 A.

Okay.  I'm going to represent to you that the 19 Q.

total dollar amount contained within 20

Exhibit Irving 3 is $1,273,976.10? 21

Okay. 22 A.

Okay?  Does that ring a bell in terms of the 23 Q.

dollar amount that Irving Railroad assigned to 24

Irving Paper? 25

31

Not necessarily. 1 A.

Okay.  Is that something that you ever looked 2 Q.

into? 3

No. 4 A.

Okay.  5 Q.

These -- let me -- as -- I did not receive 6 A.

whatever number of these documents in one 7

envelope. 8

Okay.  9 Q.

I received one.  And a week later 10 A.

approximately I received another one.  So 11

it -- and these amounts don't register with 12

any specific amounts that were due. 13

Okay.  What did you make of these when they 14 Q.

came across your desk? 15

I didn't know what to make of them.  It didn't 16 A.

affect us in any way as far as I was 17

concerned.  It didn't ask for acknowledgment.  18

It didn't ask for me to answer.  I assumed it 19

was some matter of internal bookkeeping. 20

On the part of Irving? 21 Q.

On the part of Irving and all their companies. 22 A.

Okay.  So you didn't view this as having any 23 Q.

effect on the business relationship between 24

MMA and Irving? 25

32

No. 1 A.

And as far as you were concerned to the extent 2 Q.

that bills were going to be paid in either 3

direction it was going to continue as it had.  4

Is that fair to say? 5

It -- yes. 6 A.

And I think you may have said this, I 7 Q.

apologize, but you didn't talk to anybody at 8

Irving about this? 9

No. 10 A.

All right.  Let me show you what was marked as 11 Q.

Irving Exhibit 4 yesterday.  And I'll just ask 12

you to take a look at it and let me know if 13

you have ever seen that before.  14

I don't recall seeing that. 15 A.

Okay.  A little bit above the middle of page 16 Q.

one --17

Yeah. 18 A.

-- it's an e-mail from Jim Mehan to 19 Q.

mdgardner@mmarail.com? 20

That's correct. 21 A.

Is that your e-mail address? 22 Q.

It is. 23 A.

And he addresses the e-mail to Don?  24 Q.

Yes.  I don't doubt that it was sent to me.  25 A.

33

I'm sure it's there.  I also note it's 6:00 on 1

a Friday night.  I mean, that would probably 2

be fairly well buried by Monday morning.3

Okay.4 Q.

Although, I mean, I could have seen it.  5 A.

Again, I don't understand what the 6

significance of it was in relation to -- to 7

MMA, other than what invoices were paid to 8

NBSR.  I wasn't focused on it. 9

Okay.  10 Q.

I will also tell you -- I was just going to 11 A.

say that five days later we filed for 12

bankruptcy. 13

Okay.  14 Q.

I would suggest that any information coming 15 A.

from J.D. Irving was not exactly the highest 16

priority in my... 17

Busy time? 18 Q.

You think?  Yes. 19 A.

Yes.  Did you talk to Mr. Mehan? 20 Q.

No, I've never spoken to him. 21 A.

Did you talk to anyone at Irving about this 22 Q.

e-mail? 23

No. 24 A.

Did you have any understanding of what Irving, 25 Q.
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Mr. Mehan, were trying to tell you by virtue 1

of this e-mail? 2

No. 3 A.

Did you have any understanding of what effect, 4 Q.

if any, Irving intended these documents to 5

have on the business relationship between MMA 6

and Irving? 7

No. 8 A.

Did you consider the attachments to wipe out 9 Q.

any debt that MMA had to -- I'm sorry -- that 10

Irving Paper had to MMA? 11

No. 12 A.

Did you have any conversation with anyone at 13 Q.

Irving about Irving Paper's debt to MMA being 14

extinguished? 15

No one called me. 16 A.

Did you make any book entries on the MMA books 17 Q.

relating to the receivable that MMA had from 18

Irving Paper as a result of receiving Exhibit 19

Irving 4? 20

No. 21 A.

Did you consider these documents to change 22 Q.

MMA's obligations to pay Irving Railroad? 23

No. 24 A.

So just to be clear -- and I'm not trying to 25 Q.

35

be repetitive -- as of August 2 or let's say 1

Monday, August 5, Monday morning, as far as 2

you were concerned the status quo in terms of 3

MMA's receivable from Irving Paper and payable 4

to Irving Railroad remained the same.  Is that 5

fair to say? 6

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form. 7

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 8

Do you understand my question? 9 Q.

Mmm-hmm. 10 A.

Would that be fair to say? 11 Q.

Yes, that's fair to say. 12 A.

Did you receive any other written 13 Q.

correspondence from Irving relating to 14

Irving's payable to MMA after August 2, 2013? 15

I don't recall. 16 A.

Did you have any conversations with anyone at 17 Q.

Irving on that topic after August 2? 18

No. 19 A.

How about Irving's -- MMA's payable to Irving 20 Q.

Railroad? 21

Yes. 22 A.

Did you receive any written correspondence 23 Q.

about the status of that after August 2? 24

After August 2?  I don't believe so. 25 A.

36

Did you have any conversations with anyone at 1 Q.

Irving about that --2

I -- no. 3 A.

-- after August 2? 4 Q.

After August 2?  I do not think so. 5 A.

As we sit here today, in your understanding 6 Q.

does Irving Paper still have a payable to MMA?7

Yes. 8 A.

So MMA's books would show a payable in 9 Q.

whatever amount was owed? 10

On our books it's a receivable from the 11 A.

various Irving Paper companies. 12

Correct.  Fair enough. 13 Q.

And would those books also show a payable 14

by MMA to Irving Railroad? 15

Yes, it does. 16 A.

Do you recall ever receiving a piece of 17 Q.

written correspondence from Irving saying:  18

Amend your records, we have off set amounts 19

that you're entitled to or that you owe? 20

No, I do not recall. 21 A.

If something like that came into MMA, would it 22 Q.

land on your desk --23

Yes.24 A.

-- in the ordinary course?25 Q.

37

Yes. 1 A.

Did Irving ever send MMA a certified return 2 Q.

receipt letter stating that an offset would be 3

done? 4

I don't recall that. 5 A.

And, again, would that land on your desk in 6 Q.

the ordinary course? 7

You would think, yes.  In the whole context of 8 A.

what has transpired since the 2nd of August, 9

documents could have gone to one or another 10

attorneys's office as well. 11

In light of the bankruptcy? 12 Q.

In light of the bankruptcy, yes. 13 A.

Let me represent to you that the amounts of 14 Q.

the invoices -- well, let me back up a step.  15

Okay?  On page one of Exhibit Irving 4 --16

Mmm-hmm. 17 A.

-- Mr. Mehan indicates that he was asked to 18 Q.

send you support for what invoices were paid 19

to NBSR through assignments.  20

Do you have any idea what he's talking 21

about there? 22

No.  He was asked to send me support?  23 A.

Do you know what that means? 24 Q.

Other than these amounts are in hundred 25 A.
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thousand dollars increments and don't relate 1

to any amounts due -- I'm assuming though.  I 2

don't know. 3

Okay.  All right.  If someone says that Irving 4 Q.

did a setoff, in other words, it took money 5

that Irving Paper owed to MMA and set it off 6

against amounts that Irving Railroad was 7

entitled to collect from MMA --8

Mmm-hmm. 9 A.

-- is that correct in your understanding? 10 Q.

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form.  11

No. 12 A.

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 13

Okay.  It's not something that you're aware 14 Q.

of? 15

No. 16 A.

Okay.  17 Q.

Let me ask you a question.  What do you mean 18 A.

I'm not aware of?  I mean, they did it or 19

they're -- or they're suggesting they've done 20

it.  So I guess I'm aware, but... 21

As we sit here today? 22 Q.

Yes. 23 A.

Were you aware of that back in August? 24 Q.

No. 25 A.

39

And as far as -- well, I'm going to withdraw 1 Q.

it because believe it or not I'm trying not to 2

ask you the same question over and over again.  3

Okay. 4 A.

Do you know if Irving is a member of the 5 Q.

American Association of Railroads?6

I do not know. 7 A.

Do you know if they subscribe to the interline 8 Q.

settlement system? 9

They haven't.10 A.

But MMA does? 11 Q.

MMA does.  We do the billing, and that's why 12 A.

the commercial agreement was in place. 13

The commercial agreement between MMA and 14 Q.

Irving -- 15

Railroad. 16 A.

-- Railroad?17 Q.

Does the interline settlement system 18

require that there be a commercial agreement 19

like that? 20

No. 21 A.

So even though MMA was a member but Irving 22 Q.

Railroad wasn't -- 23

That's my understanding of what the basic 24 A.

arrangement was to be, was that MMA would do 25

40

that portion; do the accounting, do the 1

billing, participate in the interline 2

settlement system, do the marketing. 3

So MMA was going to do those things because 4 Q.

Irving Railroad wasn't a member of the system?  5

Is that -- 6

That's right. 7 A.

Okay.  And does MMA subscribe to the Railway 8 Q.

Accounting Rules? 9

Yes.10 A.

Are you familiar with mandatory rule one of 11 Q.

the Railway Accounting Rules? 12

No. 13 A.

Was that mandatory rule one ever a topic of 14 Q.

conversation between MMA and Irving? 15

No, not that I was part of. 16 A.

Fair enough. 17 Q.

Did you ever have any discussions with 18

Irving about Wheeling and Lake Erie's security 19

interest in -- let me back up.  I'm going to 20

withdraw that question.  21

Are you aware that Wheeling and Lake Erie 22

Railroad has a security interest in MMA's 23

receivables from Irving Paper? 24

Yes. 25 A.

41

Did you ever talk to anyone at Irving about 1 Q.

that? 2

No. 3 A.

Did you ever send them any documents having to 4 Q.

do with that? 5

No. 6 A.

Did they ever ask you for your UCC -- for 7 Q.

Wheeling's UCC filings? 8

No. 9 A.

Did you ever talk to Irving about Irving doing 10 Q.

a UCC search on the MMA? 11

No. 12 A.

All right.  13 Q.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Let's go off the record, 14

take about, you know, five or ten minutes, and 15

I'll take a look at what I have and see 16

whether or not I'm done.  17

(Thereupon, a recess was taken, and then the 18

deposition continued as follows:) 19

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 20

Mr. Gardner, I want to ask you to just take a 21 Q.

look at Irving Exhibit 2, which I think you 22

have in your pile.  23

Mmm-hmm. 24 A.

If you would turn to page three, Paragraph 9, 25 Q.

Case 13-10670    Doc 384-11    Filed 10/15/13    Entered 10/15/13 09:59:13    Desc 
 Donald Gardner deposition transcript    Page 11 of 23



In re:  Montreal Maine & Atlantic Railway Ltd.

Deposition of Robert J. Keach via Donald Gardner  - 10/10/13

Duvernay Reporting, Inc. Page 42 - 45 

42

about halfway through that paragraph there is 1

a sentence that says:  The Irving companies 2

contend that MMA is obligated upon receipt of 3

payment to remit to the Irving Railroads their 4

share of such charges attributable to the rail 5

services provided by the Irving Railroads in 6

connection with such shipments.7

Do you see that? 8

Mmm-hmm. 9 A.

Is it your understanding that that's correct? 10 Q.

No. 11 A.

MR. LEPENE:  Objection.  Is the question 12

whether that's what the Irving companies 13

contend?  14

MR. ROSENTHAL:  That's right.  And so I 15

want to clarify the question.  Okay?  16

BY MR. ROSENTHAL:17

I'm not asking you whether the Irving 18 Q.

companies contend that or not.  19

Okay.20 A.

I'm asking you:  Do you agree with that 21 Q.

contention? 22

No. 23 A.

Okay.  And turning to page four, Paragraph 12, 24 Q.

the second sentence states:  In short, they 25

43

contend that payments by the Irving companies 1

would be made only after MMA agreed to make 2

immediate and concurrent payment of amounts 3

owed by MMA to the Irving Railroads, which 4

included the Irving Railroads's share of the 5

freight charges attributable to the Irving 6

freight shipments.  7

Do you agree with that contention? 8

No. 9 A.

The Irving companies refer to this as the cash 10 Q.

swap.  Do you see that sentence? 11

Yes. 12 A.

I know I asked you earlier about the term, 13 Q.

cash swap.  Just to make sure I understand, is 14

it your testimony that you're not familiar 15

with anything called a cash swap? 16

There was a practice, yes.  17 A.

But you're not -- you haven't in the conduct 18 Q.

of your business used the term, cash swap? 19

No. 20 A.

Or heard the term, cash swap? 21 Q.

Only recently. 22 A.

Okay.  In the context of this case? 23 Q.

Yes.24 A.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  With that, I have 25

44

nothing further for you, Mr. Gardner.  As we 1

talked about at the beginning, I will be 2

following up with Mr. Fagone on whether we 3

have anything additional we want to know, and 4

we will handle that as we have agreed to do.  5

Fair enough?  6

MR. FAGONE:  Yes.  7

MR. LEPENE:  Why don't you give me five 8

minutes to get organized, and then we'll 9

proceed. 10

MR. FAGONE:  Take whatever time you 11

need.  Off the record.  12

(Thereupon, a recess was taken, and then the 13

deposition continued as follows:) 14

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 15

We're back on.  It's my understanding, 16 Q.

Mr. Gardner, that you may want to clarify or 17

expand upon something that you said earlier? 18

Yes.  The term, cash swap, as a term, I think 19 A.

between Ryan Ellis and myself, we used that 20

term; we were going to swap cash. 21

Okay.  22 Q.

So those words have been used together. 23 A.

So let me just ask you when you and Mr. Ellis 24 Q.

used the term, how did you -- what did you 25

45

intend it to mean? 1

MR. FAGONE:  Okay.  You can answer with 2

respect to what you intended.  I think the 3

question was what did you and Mr. Ellis 4

intend.  Obviously you can answer with respect 5

to your intention. 6

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Fair. 7

My intention was that I would pay the 8 A.

railroads if the Irving Paper Company would 9

pay me a specified amount. 10

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 11

And do you have any understanding of what 12 Q.

Mr. Ellis intended? 13

He seemed in agreement --14 A.

Okay.  15 Q.

-- although his comment was he would always 16 A.

inquire to the paper company, as to he 17

didn't -- in some ways he didn't appear to 18

control what the paper companies did. 19

Okay.  So would it be fair to say that to the 20 Q.

extent that you used the term, cash swap, 21

you're not using that to refer to an 22

arrangement in which you, meaning MMA, were 23

required to pay Irving Railroad immediately 24

upon being paid by Irving Paper? 25
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MR. LEPENE:  Objection.1

Correct. 2 A.

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 3

Does that conclude the clarification that you 4 Q.

wanted to make? 5

Yes. 6 A.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  So with that, I'm all 7

set.  We can go back off.  8

(Thereupon an off-the-record discussion 9

occurred, and then the deposition continued as 10

follows:)11

(Deposition Exhibit No. Irving Paper 1 12

marked.) 13

(Deposition Exhibit No. Irving Paper 2 14

marked.) 15

(Deposition Exhibit No. Irving Paper 3 16

marked.) 17

(Deposition Exhibit No. Irving Paper 4 18

marked.) 19

(Deposition Exhibit No. Irving Paper 5 20

marked.) 21

EXAMINATION22

BY MR. LEPENE: 23

Mr. Gardner, good morning.  24 Q.

Good morning. 25 A.

47

My name is Alan Lepene.  We have met before? 1 Q.

Yes. 2 A.

I'm the attorney for Irving Paper, Limited, 3 Q.

Irving Pulp and Paper, Limited, and J.D. 4

Irving, Limited, in connection with this 5

particular matter.  6

And I'm going to ask you a few questions 7

with respect to your -- the testimony that you 8

provided up to this point.  9

Let me ask first:  You had mentioned that 10

there was a controller at the MMA who was 11

involved in this --12

Yes. 13 A.

-- arrangement with -- and I'll use the same 14 Q.

term that Mr. Rosenthal used -- the Irving 15

Paper companies and the swap arrangement? 16

Yes.17 A.

Who was that? 18 Q.

Jocelyne Baranek. 19 A.

Did you say she's no longer with the company 20 Q.

or -- 21

She passed away a year ago.  And she was 22 A.

disabled with a brain tumor the year prior to 23

her death. 24

Okay.  The arrangement that you testified to 25 Q.

48

that has been referred to generally as the 1

cash swap arrangement --2

Yes. 3 A.

-- that had been in place for many years as 4 Q.

between the Irving Paper companies and the 5

Irving Railroads?  And again, for the record, 6

the Irving Railroads are the New Brunswick and 7

Southern Railway Company and the Maine 8

Northern Railway Company; is that correct? 9

Yes.10 A.

How many years had that practice been in 11 Q.

place? 12

I can attest that it was from 2008 on, but 13 A.

prior to that I believe it was operating. 14

When you say you can attest that it was from 15 Q.

2008 on -- 16

That's when I was employed at MMA. 17 A.

Okay.  So when you were employed this was 18 Q.

practice that was already in place? 19

Yes. 20 A.

Do you know how many years prior to 2008 this 21 Q.

practice had been in place? 22

I don't for sure. 23 A.

Okay.  When was the MMA formed or established? 24 Q.

January 2003. 25 A.

49

And you testified that there had been a 1 Q.

commercial agreement in place between the MMA 2

and the Irving Railroads as of January 2003; 3

is that correct? 4

Correct. 5 A.

Okay.  So do you know whether this practice -- 6 Q.

Excuse me. 7 A.

Yes.  8 Q.

It's only the New Brunswick Southern Railroad.  9 A.

MNR is not a party to that. 10

Okay.  And do you know whether this practice, 11 Q.

the so-called cash swap arrangement, then 12

would go back all the way to January of 2003? 13

I have no reason to believe it didn't. 14 A.

Okay.  So it's been in place for a very long 15 Q.

time? 16

I believe so. 17 A.

Okay.  Would you agree that it was the -- 18 Q.

something that was done in the ordinary course 19

of business between the Irving companies on 20

the one hand and MMA on the other? 21

Yes. 22 A.

And I think you testified that this practice 23 Q.

involved an agreement to swap or exchange cash 24

on a weekly basis; is that correct? 25
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It was an e-mail arrangement that was done 1 A.

each week. 2

And that e-mail arrangement that was done each 3 Q.

week provided the details of how the 4

transaction would be implemented each week? 5

Correct. 6 A.

Did you receive copies of those e-mails? 7 Q.

I believe I did. 8 A.

Okay.  How involved were you in the process? 9 Q.

To some extent I was not involved.  And as 10 A.

times -- as it became more and more difficult 11

in our cash management activities, I became 12

more involved.13

Okay.  When did it become more difficult in 14 Q.

your cash management activities that resulted 15

in your becoming more involved? 16

Specifically I couldn't tell you, but within a 17 A.

year or so of my arrival. 18

Within a year following your arrival? 19 Q.

Following my arrival. 20 A.

So that would be sometime in 2009? 21 Q.

2009. 22 A.

What was the reason for the cash management 23 Q.

difficulties, if I'm paraphrasing correctly 24

your term, that caused you to get more 25

51

involved? 1

Well, there were periods of time where the 2 A.

company, MMA, was losing money.  And in the 3

course of losing money, that put significant 4

constraints on our cash. 5

Okay.  Now, in terms of the reasons for this 6 Q.

arrangement, when you arrived and were 7

employed by the MMA, did you inquire of anyone 8

as to why this agreement was in place? 9

No. 10 A.

Okay.  Did you understand why the agreement 11 Q.

was in place? 12

I don't understand what your question is. 13 A.

Well, you arrived, and there was this 14 Q.

agreement for what has been characterized as a 15

cash swap.  Did you have an understanding as 16

to why that agreement was in place? 17

What I saw, as I arrived, was a practice of 18 A.

how we got paid.  The only agreement that was 19

provided to me was what I continue to refer to 20

as the commercial agreement that was signed in 21

2003. 22

Well, you would agree there are various ways 23 Q.

that people can agree to do things, correct? 24

Sure. 25 A.

52

People can have oral agreements, can they not? 1 Q.

Yes.2 A.

In your business career you've had oral 3 Q.

agreements, haven't you? 4

Of course. 5 A.

You consider those agreements to be binding 6 Q.

upon you, when you enter into an oral 7

agreement, don't you? 8

Certainly. 9 A.

It's true that this arrangement involved 10 Q.

exchange of e-mails over years --11

Mmm-hmm. 12 A.

-- that implemented this practice, correct? 13 Q.

Yes, correct. 14 A.

So when you say there was no agreement, you 15 Q.

really mean that you never saw a written 16

agreement on a piece of paper that defined how 17

this would work, correct? 18

Correct. 19 A.

Okay.  But, in fact, you agree, do you not, 20 Q.

that this practice was evidenced by 21

performance of the parties over time, correct? 22

Yes. 23 A.

And this agreement was evidenced by the 24 Q.

exchange of numerous e-mails back and forth 25

53

between the parties, correct? 1

Correct. 2 A.

And it was done in the ordinary course of 3 Q.

business? 4

Yes. 5 A.

Now, you've been a financial analyst with an 6 Q.

economics degree.  You've had a long business 7

career, correct? 8

Yes.  Correct. 9 A.

You would agree with me, would you not, that 10 Q.

the Irving companies were doing this because 11

they did not want to incur credit exposure to 12

the MMA, correct? 13

I believe so. 14 A.

And that was the basis for their wanting to do 15 Q.

this arrangement, correct?  16

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form. 17

BY MR. LEPENE: 18

That's correct, isn't it? 19 Q.

I can't answer to their motives. 20 A.

That would be your understanding as a credit 21 Q.

analyst, correct? 22

What I saw them doing was using their vendors 23 A.

and their payables to their advantage. 24

To avoid credit exposure? 25 Q.
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Or to use financing from vendors which -- 1 A.

which they were doing. 2

Okay.  Well -- 3 Q.

By taking longer terms than what was stated, 4 A.

they were using MMA to finance part of their 5

business, albeit minor, but none the less a 6

financing source. 7

That eventually changed though, correct?  You 8 Q.

were able to reach an understanding where 9

the -- as far as the mechanics of the swap 10

were concerned, amounts were being calculated 11

based on payment terms, correct? 12

Correct. 13 A.

And that was the arrangement you worked out 14 Q.

with Mr. Ellis, correct? 15

Correct. 16 A.

And that occurred over a year ago? 17 Q.

Yes. 18 A.

And so from that point forward you were 19 Q.

satisfied that no one was taking advantage of 20

the MMA to finance -- strike that.  21

That Irving wasn't taking advantage of the 22

MMA to finance its business, correct? 23

Correct. 24 A.

So that issue from your standpoint had been 25 Q.

55

successfully resolved more than a year ago? 1

Correct. 2 A.

This arrangement was really the functional 3 Q.

equivalent of a setoff, wasn't it? 4

I don't know that I can answer that. 5 A.

Well, where the MMA -- excuse me.  Where 6 Q.

Irving was paying money to the MMA, and the 7

MMA was then paying money back --8

Mmm-hmm. 9 A.

-- correct, could that not have also been 10 Q.

accomplished simply by netting out who owed 11

what to whom, and just having one party pay 12

the balance to the other? 13

Yes. 14 A.

That could have been done? 15 Q.

Yes. 16 A.

Okay.  So that -- 17 Q.

And I did it one time. 18 A.

Yes.  I've seen the e-mails.  19 Q.

Okay. 20 A.

But that was the basis for my question that 21 Q.

this arrangement was the functional equivalent 22

of a setoff.  You would agree with that, 23

wouldn't you? 24

Yes. 25 A.

56

Okay.  Now, explain to me -- Mr. Rosenthal 1 Q.

asked a few questions about this, but I want 2

to be clear.  In terms of how freight traffic 3

destined to go to the Irving Paper facilities 4

or freight traffic coming from the Irving 5

facilities to their ultimate customer --6

Mmm-hmm. 7 A.

-- that was going to be carried on the MMA --8 Q.

Yes. 9 A.

-- how did that work physically?  Do you 10 Q.

understand the question? 11

No, I don't. 12 A.

I could tell by the way you were looking at me 13 Q.

that you didn't.  14

The MMA does not have right of way -- 15

doesn't own right of way or have tracks that 16

go up to the Irving facilities, do they? 17

No. 18 A.

So in order to carry freight from the Irving 19 Q.

facilities to its ultimate destination or to 20

carry freight from -- or product that the 21

Irving facilities need that is coming from 22

wherever to get to the Irving facilities, that 23

freight has to travel on more than just the 24

MMA rail lines, correct? 25

57

Correct. 1 A.

It has to be interchanged at some point with 2 Q.

railroads that service the Irving Paper 3

facilities; is that correct? 4

Correct. 5 A.

And those railroads were owned by J.D. Irving, 6 Q.

correct? 7

I believe so. 8 A.

Those are the Irving Railroads? 9 Q.

Yes. 10 A.

That's really my question.  So with that 11 Q.

background, can you explain to me how freight 12

would -- let's say a product being shipped 13

from Montreal that's destined to go to an 14

Irving facility that is being carried by the 15

MMA, or product coming from an Irving facility 16

that's destined to go to Montreal, how does 17

that work? 18

The coming from Montreal we would receive it.  19 A.

MMA would receive the traffic probably from 20

Canadian Pacific.  We would then take it to 21

Brownville Junction and interchange it with 22

the NBSR.  They would then carry the 23

railcar -- pull the railcar to its 24

destination, which would be I assume somewhere 25

Case 13-10670    Doc 384-11    Filed 10/15/13    Entered 10/15/13 09:59:13    Desc 
 Donald Gardner deposition transcript    Page 15 of 23



In re:  Montreal Maine & Atlantic Railway Ltd.

Deposition of Robert J. Keach via Donald Gardner  - 10/10/13

Duvernay Reporting, Inc. Page 58 - 61 

58

in St. John, New Brunswick. 1

Okay.  Now, the freight charges for carrying 2 Q.

it from the point that you got it from 3

Canadian Pacific --4

Yes. 5 A.

-- to Brownville Junction and then from 6 Q.

Brownville Junction on the Irving Railroads to 7

the Irving facilities --8

Mmm-hmm. 9 A.

-- those freight charges, who would have the 10 Q.

responsibility for billing Irving Paper for 11

those freight changes? 12

Generally that would be what we call receive 13 A.

traffic coming from Montreal.  It could be the 14

shipper, whoever -- if it was some kind of 15

chemical, the original shipper could have 16

billed for the freight charges.  And then we 17

would have been paid through the ISS, or we 18

could -- if it's collect we would bill the 19

Irving Paper company and pay the NBSR for 20

their portion, and potentially could pay the 21

Canadian Pacific for their portion as well or 22

whoever the other railroads might be involved. 23

And just to make this concrete with respect to 24 Q.

the issue that has brought all of us together 25

59

today, which is the trustee's motion to 1

recover $885,000 from the Irving Paper 2

companies, correct? 3

Yes. 4 A.

That's what we are about here, correct? 5 Q.

Yes. 6 A.

You understand that? 7 Q.

I do. 8 A.

Okay.  So those are charges that MMA has 9 Q.

billed to the Irving Paper companies, correct? 10

Correct. 11 A.

Okay.  And that represents freight service 12 Q.

provided by the MMA? 13

Yes. 14 A.

And it also represents freight service that 15 Q.

was provided by the Irving Railroads, correct? 16

Correct.  17 A.

Okay.18 Q.

And it could provide for other railroads.  I 19 A.

mean, it could have been the Canadian Pacific.  20

It could have been the Union Pacific. 21

But with respect to that $885,000, the party 22 Q.

that billed Irving Paper was the MMA? 23

Yes. 24 A.

Now, a -- would you agree that a substantial 25 Q.

60

portion of that $885,000 represents freight 1

charges that were earned by the Irving 2

Railroads, correct? 3

By looking at the number I can't determine 4 A.

that. 5

Well, is it fair to say that in terms of the 6 Q.

freight that was carried to or from the Irving 7

facilities, the Irving Railroads were 8

involved? 9

Yes. 10 A.

Okay.  11 Q.

Yes. 12 A.

So you would agree that some portion of the 13 Q.

$885,000 -- 14

Absolutely. 15 A.

Okay.  What you're saying is:  As you sit here 16 Q.

today, you are unable to tell us how much of 17

the $885,000 is attributable to freight 18

charges that were earned by the Irving 19

Railroads?  20

Correct. 21 A.

And that could be a very substantial portion, 22 Q.

couldn't it? 23

It could be any number. 24 A.

Could it be all of it? 25 Q.

61

Unlikely. 1 A.

Okay.  Could it be half? 2 Q.

Unlikely. 3 A.

Why do you say that?  If you don't know as 4 Q.

you're sitting here how much, why do you say 5

it's unlikely to be half? 6

Because the Irving Paper Company ships to a 7 A.

variety of customers.  They take product from 8

a variety of sources, all of which I'm not 9

truly familiar with, but a substantial bill, 10

$6,000, $7,000 bill, indicates that that car 11

is going a longer distance than the two -- the 12

NBSR and MMA cover. 13

But you haven't studied it? 14 Q.

No. 15 A.

So you're just speculating when you say it's 16 Q.

unlikely that's it's half, correct?  It's 17

sheer speculation on your part, correct?  18

Well, it's experience.  I mean, looking at the 19 A.

invoicing that I've seen from time to time, 20

yeah, it is my estimate. 21

It's your speculation.  22 Q.

Fine.23 A.

MR. FAGONE:  It's okay.  I think he 24

asked you to speculate.  25
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THE WITNESS:  Okay.  1

MR. LEPENE:  I asked whether he knew. 2

MR. FAGONE:  Then you asked couldn't it 3

be. 4

MR. LEPENE:  Okay.  5

BY MR. LEPENE: 6

And the MMA then, in terms of again dealing 7 Q.

with Irving Paper Company, would collect all 8

of the freight charges that it billed.  And 9

then the MMA was obligated to remit to the 10

Irving Railroads their share of those freight 11

charges that represented the services that 12

they had provided, correct? 13

Correct. 14 A.

And those charges in part were typically 15 Q.

included in this cash swap arrangement, 16

correct? 17

Correct. 18 A.

Now, you say that you weren't familiar with 19 Q.

the term, swap, until you and Ryan Ellis got 20

involved in this particular matter?  Is that 21

what I heard you say before? 22

Generally, yes. 23 A.

Okay.  And when did you and Ryan Ellis get 24 Q.

involved? 25

63

About a year ago. 1 A.

About a year ago.  And what caused you and 2 Q.

Ryan Ellis to get involved? 3

Primarily the changing -- the activity with 4 A.

the oil business which precipitated a huge, 5

huge payable to the railroad for the 6

transportation of the crude oil.  And if it 7

were to be paid under the terms -- it couldn't 8

be paid under the original terms. 9

Because of the size? 10 Q.

Because of the size. 11 A.

Okay.  12 Q.

And it would require MMA advancing funds. 13 A.

So that really -- an agreement was reached to 14 Q.

keep the oil shipments outside the swap 15

arrangement, correct? 16

Correct. 17 A.

Okay.  And am I correct that prior to the oil 18 Q.

shipments coming into play, insofar as this 19

swap arrangement was concerned -- and I think 20

you testified to this previously -- Irving 21

Paper would, when these transactions were 22

consummated on a weekly basis, invariably be 23

paying more to the MMA than the MMA was paying 24

to the NBSR and the MNR, correct? 25

64

Correct. 1 A.

And, again, for the record, the MNR is the 2 Q.

Maine Northern Railway, and the NBSR in the 3

New Brunswick Southern Railway.  4

Okay.  Have you gone back to look at any 5

of the e-mail traffic that preceded your and 6

Mr. Ellis getting involved? 7

Some time ago, yes. 8 A.

Okay.  And so is it your testimony that if we 9 Q.

went back to look at e-mails between the two 10

companies that preceded your getting involved 11

with Mr. Ellis, there wouldn't be any 12

reference to swaps? 13

None that I recall.14 A.

But you weren't, as you indicated, really 15 Q.

intimately involved in the mechanics of the 16

transaction, were you? 17

I wasn't involved in making the transfers, no. 18 A.

Well, did you supervise anyone who was? 19 Q.

I did. 20 A.

Did you get copies of the e-mails?21 Q.

I'm -- I've seen e-mails on a routine basis.  22 A.

I don't remember whether I was actually copied 23

on them or if I asked for them. 24

So if we went back to 2010, 2009, and we 25 Q.

65

looked at your e-mail traffic, we wouldn't see 1

any reference to swap? 2

I don't believe so. 3 A.

Okay.  4 Q.

MR. LEPENE:  Off the record.  5

(Thereupon an off-the-record discussion 6

occurred, and then the deposition continued as 7

follows:) 8

BY MR. LEPENE: 9

All right.  Let me, Mr. Gardner, hand you what 10 Q.

has been marked as Irving Paper Exhibit 1.  11

Ah, Joanne Kelter.  That's the lady's name. 12 A.

For the record, the reference to Cathy Heldt 13 Q.

at the top is only going to be meaningful to 14

me because that's my secretary.  15

Okay. 16 A.

Her name appears because we downloaded it and 17 Q.

she printed it.  18

Yeah.  And those are all the -- at the very 19 A.

top of the -- I mean, Brenda Tarr, Jocelyne 20

Baranek, Torrie Potter, those three people are 21

all in my office and work for me.  Jocelyne 22

was the controller who has since passed away. 23

Okay.  Now, I think the way to look at these, 24 Q.

since it's an e-mail string, is to start from 25
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the back, if you will, although fortunately 1

you just have to go down on the first page for 2

this one, but as we go through others we may 3

have to go back a few pages and then come 4

forward in order to see the string.  5

So you see that there is an e-mail from 6

Joanne Kelter --7

Mmm-hmm. 8 A.

-- who you just identified as the person at 9 Q.

J.D. Irving that you had spoke with at one 10

point? 11

Yes.12 A.

And that was about the account payable 13 Q.

situation --14

Correct. 15 A.

-- which ultimately got resolved to your 16 Q.

satisfaction about a year ago? 17

Yes. 18 A.

Okay.  And then it's an e-mail dated 19 Q.

August 10, 2011, to Brenda Tarr, Jocelyne 20

Baranek, and Torrie Potter --21

Yes. 22 A.

-- all of whom you say worked under your 23 Q.

direction --24

Correct. 25 A.
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-- at the MMA? 1 Q.

Correct. 2 A.

Okay.  And in this e-mail, just looking at it, 3 Q.

Joanne Kelter is advising her counterparts at 4

the MMA that this week we will be sending the 5

following payments along.  6

Do you see that? 7

Yes. 8 A.

And that identifies amounts that will be 9 Q.

coming from the paper companies, the Irving 10

Paper companies? 11

Correct. 12 A.

And she says in return we are seeking payment 13 Q.

for the following.  Do you see that? 14

Yes. 15 A.

You also see that the subject of the e-mail -- 16 Q.

what is the subject of the e-mail? 17

Yes, swap details. 18 A.

Okay.  So at least the people working for you 19 Q.

understood this to be a swap, didn't they? 20

Apparently. 21 A.

Okay.  And this was typical, was it not, in 22 Q.

terms of the e-mail traffic that was sent 23

back -- back and forth? 24

Yes. 25 A.
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Done at least weekly, if not more frequently? 1 Q.

Pretty much weekly. 2 A.

And this was done weekly from the time you 3 Q.

arrived in 2008, so for the last five years, 4

correct? 5

Yes, correct. 6 A.

And as far as you know this was the practice 7 Q.

in the ordinary course that was done, going 8

all the way back to 2003, correct? 9

Correct. 10 A.

Okay.  Okay.  Let me hand you what we have 11 Q.

marked as Irving Paper Exhibit 2.  And this is 12

an e-mail from Brenda Tarr, someone who works 13

under you at the MMA, correct --14

Mmm-hmm, yes. 15 A.

-- to Bonnie Davis?  Do you know who Bonnie 16 Q.

Davis is? 17

I do not, no. 18 A.

Okay.  CC Joanne Kelter.  Joanne Kelter is the 19 Q.

J.D. Irving --20

Right. 21 A.

-- individual you identified before? 22 Q.

Right. 23 A.

And the subject of this e-mail is what? 24 Q.

Swap. 25 A.

69

Okay.  And then Brenda, your person reporting 1 Q.

to you, in this e-mail says to Bonnie or 2

Joanne:  Is the swap going to be done for 3

Monday.  4

Do you see that? 5

Yes. 6 A.

I usually get a notification the day before 7 Q.

the swap, and I haven't noticed anything yet.  8

Do you see that? 9

Yes. 10 A.

I plan on wiring the money out to you on 11 Q.

Monday.  Correct? 12

Correct. 13 A.

Okay.  Would it be a fair inference that this 14 Q.

would contemplate a simultaneous exchange of 15

cash, just looking at this e-mail? 16

Yes.  The one exception to that is we weren't 17 A.

going to pay if we weren't collecting our 18

receivable. 19

Collecting your receivable from whom? 20 Q.

The Irving Paper company. 21 A.

That's the whole idea of a simultaneous 22 Q.

exchange, isn't it?  If they wire to you -- 23

Well, it's a collection matter, right.  24 A.

They wire to you; you wire to them, correct? 25 Q.
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Correct. 1 A.

Isn't that what simultaneous means? 2 Q.

True. 3 A.

Doesn't the context of this e-mail indicate to 4 Q.

you that this was going to be a simultaneous 5

wire?  I plan on wiring the money out to you 6

on Monday.  And her first question:  Is the 7

swap going to be done for Monday.  8

Aren't they in effect agreeing that they 9

will simultaneously swap cash on Monday?  10

Isn't that true? 11

That's true.  You're aware that when we sent 12 A.

money it was in Canadian dollars, and cash we 13

received was in U.S. dollars?  14

Okay.  That's -- there are ways to get cash 15 Q.

converted, you know, correct? 16

But they were different accounts in different 17 A.

companies. 18

But the fact is that the payments, the wires, 19 Q.

were going to be simultaneous, correct? 20

They were going to occur on the same day, 21 A.

correct. 22

Occur on the same day.  Okay.  23 Q.

Let me hand you what has been identified 24

as Irving Exhibit 3.  This is an e-mail -- 25

71

well, initiated first by Brenda Tarr, correct, 1

on September 20 at 1:30 -- well, no.  I take 2

that back.  3

MR. FAGONE:  No. 4

BY MR. LEPENE: 5

I violated or ignored my own convention here.  6 Q.

This e-mail originally -- well, strike that. 7

The e-mails at the top would appear to 8

have been initiated first by Bonnie Davis of 9

J.D. Irving to Brenda Tarr, Jocelyne Baranek, 10

and Torrie Potter at 12:37 p.m. on September 11

20, 2011, correct? 12

Mmm-hmm. 13 A.

And Bonnie is saying to Brenda:  Sure, Brenda, 14 Q.

I'll let Joanne know we're going to swap on 15

Monday, September 26, correct? 16

Correct. 17 A.

Okay.  That would suggest to you, again, that 18 Q.

this is going to be done simultaneously, 19

correct? 20

Yes. 21 A.

Same day? 22 Q.

Yes. 23 A.

And then at 1:33 p.m. Brenda sends an e-mail 24 Q.

to Bonnie and Jocelyne Baranek and Torrie 25

72

Potter with a copy to Joanne Kelter:  Bonnie, 1

we will have to do our swap on Monday.  Do you 2

want to do the same.  3

Do you see that? 4

Yes. 5 A.

Okay.  So, again, consistent with the notion 6 Q.

that swaps would be done on the same day, 7

correct? 8

Correct. 9 A.

I'm going to hand you what has been marked as 10 Q.

Irving Exhibit 4 -- 11

(Thereupon, an off-the-record 12

discussion occurred, and then the 13

deposition continued as follows:)14

MR. LEPENE:  Irving Paper Exhibit 4 to 15

distinguish some of yours yesterday that were 16

marked as Irving exhibits.  17

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Well, yeah. 18

MR. LEPENE:  Is there a problem?  19

MR. ROSENTHAL:  No, I don't have a 20

problem with it at all.  Just to the extent I 21

referred to things earlier as Irving exhibits, 22

but those were exhibits to the Irving 23

deposition.  I think you're making these as 24

Irving Paper, meaning Irving Paper's Exhibits 25

73

to today's deposition?  1

MR. FAGONE:  Correct.  2

MR. ROSENTHAL:  These are all going to 3

be exhibits.  4

MR. FAGONE:  Anything that was shown 5

today will be attached to the transcript quite 6

obviously. 7

MR. ROSENTHAL:  So we will be able to 8

figure it all out.  9

BY MR. LEPENE: 10

Mr. Gardner, this -- again, I'm looking at 11 Q.

this from the back and moving forward.  First, 12

an e-mail from Joanne Kelter to Brenda Tarr, 13

Jocelyne Baranek, and Torrie Potter dated 14

October 26, 2011, correct? 15

Mmm-hmm. 16 A.

And, again, the subject is swap details? 17 Q.

Yes. 18 A.

Okay.  Joanne says:  This week we will be 19 Q.

sending the following payments along.  And she 20

identifies the various Irving Paper entities 21

and the payments that will be made? 22

Right. 23 A.

And then she says:  In return we are seeking 24 Q.

payment for the following.  25
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Do you see that? 1

Yes. 2 A.
And then she lists a whole bunch of invoices? 3 Q.
Mmm-hmm. 4 A.
And then at the end of e-mail on the last page 5 Q.
she says:  I will require confirmation of 6

which invoices are to be paid prior to 7

releasing our wire to you.  8

Correct. 9 A.
Okay? 10 Q.
Mmm-hmm. 11 A.
And Brenda replies on October 27, which is 12 Q.
Thursday:  Are we all set with swap as normal 13

for Friday, correct? 14

Correct. 15 A.
Again, consistent with simultaneous swaps 16 Q.
being made on the same day? 17

Mmm-hmm. 18 A.
And, in fact, Irving is saying that before 19 Q.
they release they want confirmation of which 20

invoices are being paid, correct? 21

Correct.  22 A.
Okay.  Mr. Gardner, I've handed you what has 23 Q.
been marked as Irving Paper Exhibit 5.  24

Mmm-hmm. 25 A.

75

I think this one has a number of pages.  And 1 Q.
we should start with the e-mail at the back 2

and move forward.  And I think that is one 3

that is on the second page from Joanne Kelter 4

to Brenda Tarr, Jocelyne Baranek, and Torrie 5

Potter dated Wednesday, November 16, 2011.  6

Do you see that? 7

Mmm-hmm, I do. 8 A.
And Joanne says to her counterparts at the 9 Q.
MMA:  This week we will be sending the 10

following payments along.  And then she 11

identifies the Irving Paper payments that will 12

be made, correct?13

Correct. 14 A.
She says:  In return we are seeking payment 15 Q.
for the following.  And then lists a whole 16

number of invoices, correct? 17

Correct. 18 A.
And then on the very last page, she says:  I 19 Q.
will require confirmation of which invoices 20

are to be paid prior to releasing our wire to 21

you.  22

Do you see that? 23

Mmm-hmm. 24 A.
Consistent with some of the other e-mails we 25 Q.

76

have seen, correct? 1

Correct. 2 A.
Appears to be the standard operating 3 Q.
procedure, doesn't it? 4

Yes. 5 A.
And then Brenda responds with an e-mail on 6 Q.
Thursday, November 17, at 3:52 p.m. to Joanne 7

Kelter, Jocelyne Baranek, and Torrie Potter.8

Do you see that? 9

Yes. 10 A.
In fact, there is a CC.  Do you see who got 11 Q.
CCed on that? 12

I was on this one. 13 A.
You got that one.  Okay.  And Brenda says to 14 Q.
Joanne:  We will be doing the following swap 15

this week for payment on Monday.  16

Do you see that? 17

Yup. 18 A.
It says:  To the NBSR, and then they identify 19 Q.
the invoices and the payments that will be 20

made.  21

Do you see that? 22

Mmm-hmm. 23 A.
And it says to EMR.  Do you know who EMR is? 24 Q.
That is the Eastern Maine Railroad is my 25 A.

77

understanding. 1

Yes.  2 Q.
It's another Irving railroad. 3 A.
It is another Irving railroad.  4 Q.

So to the Eastern Maine Railroad, for MNR, 5

which is the Maine Northern Railroad, again, 6

another Irving railroad, correct --7

Mmm-hmm.8 A.
-- and a certain dollar amount.  And then it 9 Q.
says:  In return we will be receiving from 10

NBSR $133,289.57, U.S., correct? 11

Yes. 12 A.
Simultaneous swap, right? 13 Q.
Mmm-hmm. 14 A.
Consistent with what we have seen before? 15 Q.
Yes. 16 A.
And then just to follow the -- well, seems 17 Q.
again at the top of this it appears to be a 18

suggestion in an e-mail from Jocelyne Baranek 19

to Joanne Kelter, copy to Brenda Tarr, subject 20

swap details, this is November 23:  We will 21

contact you Monday, November 28, to let you 22

know about the swap, correct? 23

Mmm-hmm. 24 A.
Do you see that? 25 Q.
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Yes. 1 A.

Okay.  So I haven't had time -- I have got a 2 Q.

big stack of e-mails here.  Do you have any 3

reason to believe that if we went through this 4

we're going to see anything different than 5

what we have already looked at? 6

No. 7 A.

Okay.  8 Q.

MR. FAGONE:  Can we go off the record 9

for a second?  10

(Thereupon an off-the-record discussion 11

occurred, and then the deposition continued as 12

follows:) 13

BY MR. LEPENE: 14

Okay.  Mr. Gardner, I'm going to direct you to 15 Q.

the document that Mr. Fagone just asked you 16

about off the record I guess it was.  I think 17

Mr. Fagone perhaps anticipated my next 18

question.  19

Take a look at Paragraph 12.  20

Okay. 21 A.

Mr. Rosenthal had asked you about 22 Q.

Paragraph 12.  Do you recall that? 23

Yes, I do. 24 A.

I think he asked you about the sentence in 25 Q.

79

Paragraph 12, the second sentence that reads:  1

In short they -- I think the they refers to 2

Irving, the Irving companies, correct? 3

Mmm-hmm. 4 A.

Contend that payments by the Irving companies 5 Q.

would be made only after MMA agreed to make 6

immediate and concurrent payment of amounts 7

owed by MMA to the Irving Railroads, which 8

included the Irving Railroads's share of the 9

freight charges attributable to the Irving 10

freight shipments.  11

Mmm-hmm. 12 A.

Mr. Rosenthal asked whether you agreed with 13 Q.

that -- not that that was the contention, but 14

whether you agreed that in fact the 15

arrangement was that the Irving companies 16

would only make payment after the MMA agreed 17

to make immediate and concurrent payment of 18

amounts owed by MMA to the Irving Railroads.  19

And you said you didn't agree with that? 20

No, I don't.  Not of late. 21 A.

I'm sorry? 22 Q.

Not -- not most recently, no. 23 A.

What do you mean by not most recently? 24 Q.

I -- MMA paid -- it was -- it was -- MMA made 25 A.
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the determination as to what was paid in the 1

last 12 months. 2

Based on the payments that were due in 3 Q.

accordance with the payment terms under the 4

agreement, the purchase orders or whatever --5

Correct. 6 A.

-- between the two companies? 7 Q.

Correct. 8 A.

So that, in effect, you didn't want to be 9 Q.

paying early? 10

Correct. 11 A.

You wanted to have the benefit of your payment 12 Q.

terms?13

I wanted to pay within the terms, which we 14 A.

did. 15

For the last year that's the way the swap has 16 Q.

worked, correct? 17

Correct. 18 A.

Recognizing that, nonetheless, the agreement 19 Q.

was that Irving Paper would not pay the MMA 20

unless there was a simultaneous return of 21

payment of those amounts owed by the MMA to 22

the Irving Railroads, correct? 23

I don't know what the Irving Railroad or 24 A.

Irving companies chose to do. 25

81

But that's what, in fact, happened? 1 Q.

That is -- 2 A.

We have just looked at the e-mails, haven't 3 Q.

we? 4

Yes.  Those go back to almost over two years 5 A.

though. 6

The e-mails indicate simultaneous payment, 7 Q.

don't they? 8

Very well. 9 A.

Payments being made on the same day? 10 Q.

Mmm-hmm. 11 A.

Okay.  12 Q.

This says though that Irving companies set the 13 A.

criteria.  And for the last 12 months that has 14

not been the case. 15

Well, for the last 12 months there has been an 16 Q.

agreement to calculate the swap based on 17

payment terms, correct? 18

Correct. 19 A.

And you were satisfied with that, correct? 20 Q.

I have been. 21 A.

And that's the way it worked? 22 Q.

Yes. 23 A.

And it's the functional equivalent of a 24 Q.

setoff, as we indicated before, correct? 25
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Yes.1 A.

MR. LEPENE:  Want to give me just a few 2

minutes and perhaps we can get out of here.3

(Thereupon, a recess was taken, and then the 4

deposition continued as follows:) 5

MR. LEPENE:  I don't have anything 6

further at this time.7

EXAMINATION8

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 9

I have a couple of follow up questions.  10 Q.

Mr. Gardner, Mr. Lepene asked you a couple 11

of questions referring to something as being 12

the functional equivalent of a setoff.13

Do you recall that? 14

Yes. 15 A.

I want to make sure I understand what you 16 Q.

understood that phrase to mean.  And in 17

particular the word, setoff.  When you heard 18

him asking you the phrase, functional 19

equivalent of a setoff, what did you 20

understand the word, setoff, to mean in that 21

context?22

I guess a deduction from a payment. 23 A.

Did you attach to that term any legal meaning? 24 Q.

No. 25 A.

83

You're using it in a business vernacular or 1 Q.

sense --2

Yes. 3 A.

-- is that fair to say? 4 Q.

Yes. 5 A.

So something being the functional equivalent 6 Q.

of a setoff, as you understand it, that would 7

mean an arrangement that works in the way that 8

a setoff would work; is that right? 9

Yes. 10 A.

Kind of accomplishes the same thing? 11 Q.

Functionally -- it would accomplish the same 12 A.

thing, yes. 13

It wouldn't actually be a setoff itself, 14 Q.

right? 15

No.  I mean, I don't know that I'm competent 16 A.

to make that conclusion. 17

Fair enough. 18 Q.

And in a setoff, if one person owes 19

another -- start that over.  Person A owes 20

Person B some money.  Person B owes Person A 21

some money.  There is a netting out, and 22

whoever owes who pays that amount? 23

Correct. 24 A.

MR. FAGONE:  Objection to form.  Go 25

84

ahead. 1

BY MR. ROSENTHAL: 2

As you understand it? 3 Q.

Yes. 4 A.

Okay.  And that's between those two people who 5 Q.

owe each other in your understanding? 6

Yes.7 A.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Fair enough.  I don't 8

have any further questions. 9

MR. FAGONE:  I don't have any questions.  10

My examination was very succinct.  11

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Well done.  12

MR. FAGONE:  Thank you.  I think we're 13

concluded.  Do either of you want to put 14

anything on the record at this point about the 15

deposition?  16

MR. ROSENTHAL:  I put what I wanted to 17

put on the record in terms of needing to 18

follow up. 19

MR. LEPENE:  The only thing I would say 20

is that this is a deposition in the context of 21

a Rule 9019 motion to approve a settlement 22

that has been reached between the trustee and 23

the Irving Paper companies.  And there is a 24

hearing next week. 25

85

MR. FAGONE:  Wednesday.  1

MR. LEPENE:  Next Wednesday I guess it 2

is or Thursday.  What is today?  3

MR. FAGONE:  I apologize.  It's 4

Thursday. 5

MR. LEPENE:  Next week a hearing on that 6

motion.  So the discovery we have taken today 7

is in the context of that motion.  And if for 8

some reason that motion is not approved or 9

granted, then I suspect there will be further 10

opportunity for us to meet again, Mr. Gardner. 11

THE WITNESS:  Very well. 12

MR. FAGONE:  Fine.  We're content with 13

that.  And we are all done.  14

(Thereupon, the reading and signing of the 15

deposition transcript was Not waived by 16

counsel in the presence of the witness.)17

(Thereupon, at 12:22 p.m., the 18

above-proceedings were concluded.)19

******20

21

22

23

24

25
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C E R T IF I C A T E

I ,  V e ro n ic a  L . M o rr ill, R P R , N o ta r y  P u b lic  

in  a n d  fo r  th e  S ta te  o f M a in e , h e r e b y  c e rt i fy  

th a t o n  O c to b e r  1 0 , 2 0 1 3 ,  p e rs o n a lly  a p p e a re d  

b e fo re  m e  th e  w ith in - n a m e d  d e p o n e n t w h o  w a s  

sw o rn  to  te s t ify  th e  tru th , th e  w h o le  t ru th  

a n d  n o th in g  b u t  th e  t ru th  in  th e  

a fo re m e n t io n e d  c a u s e  o f a c t io n ; a n d  th e  

fo r eg o in g , a s  re d u c e d  to  c o m p u te r  ty p e , is  a  

t ru e  a n d  a c c u ra te  r e co rd  o f th e  e v id e n c e  a s  

ta k e n  b y  m e  b y  m ea n s  o f s ten o ty p e .

I fu r th e r  ce r t ify  th a t I  a m  a  

d is in te re s ted  p e rs o n  in  th e  e v e n t or  o u tc o m e  

o f th e  a fo r em e n t io n e d  c a u s e .

IN  W IT N E S S  W H E R E O F , I  s u b s c r ib e  m y  h a n d  a t  

A n d ro s c o g g in , M a in e , th is  1 0 th  d a y  o f O c to b e r 

2 0 1 3 .

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

V e ro n ica  L . M o rr il l, R P R

N o ta ry  P u b lic

M y  C o m m is s io n  E x p ire s  N o v e m b e r 1 2 , 2 0 1 9  
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S IG N A T U R E  P A G E

T O  B E  C O M P L E T E D  B Y  D E P O N E N T :

I,  D O N A LD  G A R D N E R , h a v e  re a d  o r  h a d  re a d  
to  m e  th e  fo re g o in g  p a g e s  o f m y  d e p o s itio n  a n d  
h a v e  n o te d  a n y  e rro rs  in  fo rm  o r s u b s ta n c e  o f 
m y  te s t im o n y , to g e th e r  w ith  th e ir  re s p e c t iv e  
co r r e c t io n s  a n d  th e  r ea so n s  th e re fo r  o n  th e  
fo llo w in g  e r ra ta  p a g e .

(S ig n a tu re )_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

(D a te )_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

N a m e  o f p e rs o n  r ea d in g  tra n s c r ip t to  d e p o n e n t  if 
d e p o n e n t c a n n o t re a d :

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

*     *      *      *      *      *

T O  B E  C O M P L E T E D  B Y  N O T A R Y  P U B L IC  O R  A T T O R N E Y :
I,  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ , a  N o ta ry  

P u b lic /A tto rn e y , h e r e b y  a c k n o w le d g e  th a t th e  
a b o v e -n a m e d  d e p o n e n t p e rs o n a lly  a p p e a re d  
b e fo re  m e  a n d  a ffix e d  h is / h e r  s ig n a tu re  a b o v e  
a s  h is / h e r  o w n  tru e  a c t  a n d  d e e d .

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

D A T E D  _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

M y  C o m m is s io n  E x p ire s:   _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

T it le :  M o n tre a l M a in e  &  A t la n t ic  R a ilw a y , L td
Ju r isd ic t io n :  U .S . B A N K R U P T C Y  C O U R T  
D a te  o f d e p o s itio n :   O c to b e r 1 0 , 2 0 1 3  
E rr a ta  re tu rn  d e a d lin e :   N o v e m b e r 1 2 , 2 0 1 3  
N o t ic in g  p a rty :  D A N IE L  R O S E N T H A L , E S Q .
R e p o r te r :   V LM
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